DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 191

EDITH VIIRLAID

Biosensing Pesticides in Water Samples





DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 191

DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS
191

EDITH VIIRLAID

Biosensing Pesticides in Water Samples



Institute of Chemistry, Faculty of Science and Technology, University of Tartu, Estonia

The dissertation is accepted for the commencement of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Chemistry on April 24, 2020 by the Council of Institute of Chemistry, University of Tartu.

Supervisor:	Dr. Toonika Rinken, Institute of Chemistry, University of Tartu
Opponent:	Dr. Adama Marie Sesay, Biosensors and Diagnostics Senior Staff Engineer, Wyss Institute for Biologically Inspired Engineering, Harvard University, USA

Commencement: June 18, 2020, at 15.15 Ravila 14a-1020, Tartu



European Union European Regional Development Fund



ISSN 1406-0299 ISBN 978-9949-03-337-9 (print) ISBN 978-9949-03-338-6 (pdf)

Copyright: Edith Viirlaid, 2020

University of Tartu Press www.tyk.ee

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	7
ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS	8
INTRODUCTION	9
 LITERATURE OVERVIEW	$ \begin{array}{c} 10\\10\\10\\11\\12\\12\\14\\16\\16\\16\\17\\17\\18\\19\end{array} $
2. AIMS OF THE STUDY	20
 EXPERIMENTAL	21 21
 3.1.1. Synthesis of 5-TAMRA-glyphosate 3.1.2. Characterization of anti-glyphosate antibody affinity towards 	22
 3.2. Pesticide assessment protocols	23 23 24 24 24 24 25
 4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	26 26 29 33 34
CONCLUSIONS	37
REFERENCES	39
SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN	48

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	50
PUBLICATIONS	51
CURRICULUM VITAE	91
ELULOOKIRJELDUS	92

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

- I. Kuusk, E., Rinken, T. Transient phase calibration of tyrosinase-based carbaryl biosensor. *Enzyme and Microbial Technology*, 2004, 34(7), 657–661.
- II. Viirlaid, E., Ilisson, M., Kopanchuk, S., Mäeorg, U., Rinken, A., Rinken, T. Immunoassay for rapid on-site detection of glyphosate herbicide. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 2019, 191(507) 1–12.
- **III.** Viirlaid, E., Riiberg, R., Mäeorg, U., Rinken, T. Glyphosate attachment on aminoactivated carriers for sample stabilization and concentration. *Agronomy Research*, 2015, 13(4), 1152–1159.

Author's contribution

Paper I: Performed all experimental work and data analyses, and was involved in the interpretation of results and the preparation of the manuscript.

Paper II: Performed the experimental work and calculations related to biosensor optimization and measurements, responsible for the interpretation of biosensor measurement results and was involved in the preparation of the manuscript.

Paper III: Performed partially the experimental work and calculations, responsible for the interpretation of results and was involved in the preparation of the manuscript.

ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

А	whole signal change parameter
AFeNP	aminoactivated magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles
ASB	aminoactivated silica beads
В	kinetic parameter
BIA	bead injection analysis
DOC	dissolved oxygen concentration
EDC	N-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)-N'-ethylcarbodiimide
	hydrochloride
ELISA	enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay
EPSPS	enzyme 5-enolpyruvylshikimate-3-phosphate synthase
FIA	flow injection analysis
GC	gas chromatography
HPLC	high-performance liquid chromatography
Ι	signal intensity
K _d	dissociation constant
$K_{1/2}$	half-limiting value constant
LOD	limit of detection
LOQ	limit of quantification
NHS	N-hydroxysuccinimide
PBS	phosphate buffer saline
5-TAMRA	5-carboxytetramethylrhodamine
5-T-g	5-TAMRA-glyphosate
UV-Vis	Ultraviolet-visible

INTRODUCTION

Pesticides are natural or synthetic compounds mainly employed in the agricultural, but also other sectors to control all kinds of pests [1,2]. The global pesticide use is increasing steadily and the pesticides sales number was approximately 3.6 million tons in 2017 [2,3]. Majority of the applied pesticides potentially contaminate water and soil, and cause unfavourable effects on biota [4]. To eliminate risks to living organisms, allowed values for drinking and surface water have been set for most pesticides. EU provided Maximum Concentration Levels for pesticides in drinking water are quite conservative, being 0.1 µg/l for each individual pesticide [5]. The detection of pesticides is commonly carried out with chromatographic techniques integrated with UV-Vis, fluorescence and/or mass-spectrometric detectors allowing to achieve limit of detection (LOD) values under the maximum tolerated levels for all pesticides in drinking water. However, these methods are time consuming due to the need of sample pre-treatment and sophisticated equipment, which make them unsuitable for out-of-lab analyses [6]. In order to achieve capability for on-site specific testing of pesticides, biosensors are regarded as a prospective option.

Different biosensors have been proposed for the determination of pesticides, but there are few suitable technologies available that allow sensitive and quick out-of lab detection of pesticides without pre-treatment.

The main goal of the present work was to develop biosensing platforms for the detection of two pesticides – carbaryl and glyphosate, which can be potentially used for quick on-site monitoring of these compounds in water. These two pesticides are among the most problematic ones: glyphosate is the most extensively used herbicide (and also pesticide) globally and carbaryl was a widely used insecticide until recently. Although carbaryl is banned in EU now, it is still one of the most popular substances used against insects in the United States and Asian countries.

A major issue in pesticide laboratory-based analyses is the delay due to the transportation of collected samples. So, one of the aims of the current study was to study sample stabilization and preconcentration options to increase the sensitivity and reliability of pesticide analyses.

1. LITERATURE OVERVIEW

1.1. What are pesticides? The use of pesticides

Pesticides are substances to control all kinds of pests, that is any animal or plant detrimental to humans or human concerns [1]. Pesticides are classified according to their chemical composition or target organisms. Based on composition, pesticides are grouped into four main families: (a) organochlorides, including chlorinated aromatics and alicyclics; (b) organophosphates; (c) esters of carbamic acid or carbamates; and (d) pyrethrins – naturally occurring biodegradable terpenoids, which synthetic analogues are called pyrethroids [7]. However, pesticides are commonly known by their trade names and not by their systematic names. Based on targeted organism, the term pesticide comprises herbicides, insecticides, rodenticides, fungicides etc., whereas herbicides are accounting for about 50% of all pesticides used [2].

Pesticides are mainly used in the agricultural, but also other sectors like industrial, commercial and governmental; and in home & gardening [2]. The global volume of pesticide use is increasing steadily. Based on the estimations of the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and global pesticides sales, in 2017 the total amount of pesticides used was approximately 3.6 million tons [2,3], making 500 g/year per every single person. In Estonia, the use of pesticides has increased over 4 times within last two decades and reached to more than 800 t in 2016 [8] (> 600 g/year per person).

Considering individual compounds, the use of some pesticides has decreased due to their harmful effects discovered. For example, in 2002 carbaryl (1-naphthyl *N*-methylcarbamate) was classified as a potential human carcinogen [9] and since then its agricultural use in United States has dropped considerably: from more than 1,360 t in 1997 to less than 363 t in 2016 [10]. In EU, carbaryl has been totally banned since 2007 [11].

1.2. Fate of pesticides in the environment

Majority of the applied pesticides potentially contaminate water and soil, and cause unfavourable effects on biota [4]. The fate of a pesticide in the environment, its persistence and mobility are affected by its chemical and physical properties along with site characteristics like soil and groundwater features, climate, local weather conditions, biological population, and last but not least – handling practices of the pesticide user [12]. The persistence of a pesticide is characterised in terms of its half-life, which can vary from several weeks (e.g. 2,4-Dichlorophenoxyacetic acid in soil) to tens of years (e.g. 30 years in soil or even longer in water for DDT (dichlorodiphenyltrichloro-ethane)) [13–15].

Pesticides with longer half-lives have higher potential for mobility and movement in the environment. Pesticides with high sorption potential (e.g. glyphosate) can bind to soil particles almost covalently, so being inaccessible to microorganisms and affecting also non-target organisms or soil after leaching [16,17]. To eliminate any potential risks to human health, maximum residue limits in environment and advised daily intake (ADI) levels in drinking water and food have been set for most pesticides – these are discussed hereinafter.

1.2.1. Accumulation and metabolism in living organisms

Whether a toxic compound can enter into a living organism from the surrounding environment depends on its physico-chemical properties, mainly lipophilicity. Lipophilic pesticides (and their metabolites) can get absorbed in fatty tissues of higher organisms hence resulting in persistence of pesticides for extended periods [18]. For example, DDT bioaccumulates in living organisms and although its use was banned in many countries almost 50 years ago it is still detected in bottom sediments and food [19]. Accumulated pesticides can enter from fat into metabolic pathways, which are generally aiming to reduce and eliminate the toxic impact of xenobiotics. However, metabolites can sometimes be even more persistent and/or toxic than the original compound [20,21]. For example, the major metabolite of DDT DDE (dichlorodiphenyldichloroethylene) is considered to be the most persistant contaminant in the environment [22].

The metabolic degradation pathways of pesticides can be extremely complicated and are depending on organism. For example, at least 9 different metabolic products have been identified for insecticide aldrin (1,2,3,4,10,10-hexachloro1,4,4 α ,5,8,8 α -hexahydro-1,4-endo,exo-5,8-dimethanonaphthalene) (Fig. 1) [23–25].



Figure 1. The degradation metabolites of aldrin

In addition, to increase the overall effect, commercial pesticide preparations often contain several additives (solvents, surfactants, preservatives and/or other pesticides) beside the main ingredient, leading to even more complicated degradation processes and enhanced toxicities [26,27].

1.3. Some most problematic pesticides

The impact of a pesticide on environment is determined by its physico-chemical properties and amount applied. The most problematic pesticides are organochlorides as they remain intact for years and bioaccumulate in living organisms [28]. DDT and aldrin are still among the most widely used pesticides in developing countries of Asia although they have been banned in developed countries [11,28,29].

Currently, carbamates and organophosphates are preferred due to their relatively low persistence and potential bioaccumulation [2]. In addition, the use of pyrethroids and other new chemical compounds is increasing due to their lower toxicity to birds and mammals [1,2,28].

The following review will mainly focus on carbaryl (belonging to carbamates), and an organophosphorus compound glyphosate, as the development of biosensors for the detection of these two particular pesticides was the aim of the present study.

1.3.1. Carbaryl

Carbaryl (1-naphthyl *N*-methylcarbamate,) is an insecticide introduced in 1956 [30]. It is interesting to mention that besides agri- and horticulture, it has been used in veterinary practice [31,32]. The most common trade name of carbaryl is Sevin®, but it is also known as Carbamine, Denapon, Dicarbam etc. [30,33]. Carbaryl-containing pesticide products are available in both solid and liquid forms [34,35]. Carbaryl is a crystalline solid with very low solubility in water (0.01 g/l at 20 °C) [33], so in order to enhance it's solubility other ingredients are added. Powder products of carbaryl contain crystalline silica and carbonates [34].

Although carbaryl is banned in EU, it is still one of the most popular carbamate insecticides in the United States [2,10,11] where its agricultural use in 2016 was approximately 363 t [10].

Carbaryl's low vapour pressure (0.041 mPa at 23.5 °C) and low Henry's law constant (2.74×10⁻⁹ atm m³/mol at 25 °C) indicate that it does not volatilize easily [30]. Although carbaryl has poor solubility in water both the experimental and estimated soil sorption coefficient (log $K_{OC} \approx 2.3$) values indicate moderate soil mobility and leaching to ground water may occur [36]. At soil

and water surfaces carbaryl is degraded quickly by photodecomposition, hydrolysis and microbial activity. Carbaryl degradation is mainly initiated by hydroxyl radical attack and results in the formation of 1-naphtol, carbon dioxide, and methylamine [30]. 1-naphthol degrades rapidly to other compounds [30,36,37]. Average half-life of carbaryl is 4 days in water and 15 days on soil surfaces [30,37,38]. In anaerobic sediments carbaryl breaks down more slowly with halflife of 125 days [38].

Carbaryl acts via inhibition of enzyme acetylcholinesterase (AChE), which is responsible for the degradation of the neurotransmitter acetylcholine in insects [30]. For humans it is categorized as moderately toxic and moderately irritating based on oral LD₅₀ values (233–840 mg/kg) for rats [39,40]. The acceptable daily intake level (ADI) in EU for carbaryl is set to 0.0075 mg per kilogram of body weight per day (mg/kg/day) [29], World Health Organization (WHO) has set ADI at a similar level – 0.008 mg/kg/day [31], the corresponding value in US is slightly different – 0.01 mg/kg/day [41]. The Health Advisory Program in US serves the informal technical guidance for carbaryl in drinking water, set as high as 400 µg/l [41], which is contrary to daily consumption. In Canada the allowed level of carbaryl for livestock water is as high as 1100 µg/l, which is 12 times higher than the allowed level for human drinking water [42,43]. In many countries, there are no formal guideline values for carbaryl. The allowed levels for carbaryl in drinking and surface waters in different countries are shown in Table 1.

	Drinking water, μg/l	Freshwater short / long-term exposure, μg/l	Marine water short / long-term exposure, µg/l	Ref.
EU	0.1*			[5]
US	400**	110 / 6***		[41,44]
Canada	90	3.3 / 0.2	5.7 / 0.29	[42,43]
Australia	5			[45]

Table 1. Allowed levels for carbaryl residues.

* Though carbaryl is forbidden in the EU, the maximum level for each pesticide $(0.1 \ \mu g/l)$ can be applied.

** Drinking Water Equivalent Level (DWEL) – the informal technical guidance for unregulated drinking water contaminants.

*** US EPA's Office of Pesticide Programs Aquatic Life Benchmarks for fish.

1.3.2. Glyphosate

Glyphosate (N-(phosphonomethyl)glycine, $H_{H_0}^{\circ} \to H_{H_0}^{\circ}$) has become the most widely used herbicide in the world after its commercialization in 1974 [46]. Its use in agriculture has increased considerably after the introduction of genetically-modified glyphosate-tolerant crops in 1997 [47]. The global consumption of glyphosate reached almost 700,000 tons in 2016 [47]. In the same year the quantities of glyphosate marketed in Estonia were approximately 400 tons whereas glyphosate was accounting for about 50% of all pesticides marketed [8]. The best-known trade names of glyphosate include Roundup®, Glypro®, Rodeo®, Aquamaster® etc. [48]. Glyphosate is an acid (pK_a=0.8, $pK_a = 2.3$, $pK_a = 6.0$, $pK_a = 11.0$). For handling, packing and improved solubility in water (10.1 g/l at 20 °C) commercial glyphosate formulations contain also various excipients (solvents, stabilizers, surfactants, pH-regulators) [49,50]. Glyphosate is usually formulated as a salt with isopropylamine, diammonium, monoammonium or potassium as the counterion [26,47,49,50]. Formulation with the isopropylamine salt increases the solubility of glyphosate 36 times [50]. Some ingredients may be active biologically, physically and chemically theirselves and thus increase the negative impact of glyphosate containing products [26,47]. For example, surfactant polyoxyethyleneamine (POEA) has been found to be significantly more toxic than glyphosate [51–54].

Glyphosate's low vapour pressure (0.013 mPa at 25 °C) and low Henry's law constant $(1.44 \times 10^{-12} \text{ atm m}^3/\text{mol at } 25 \text{ °C})$ indicate that it does not spread by volatilization [55,56]. Several studies indicate that glyphosate binds tightly to soil particles (log K_{OC} up to 4.3) and its leaching to groundwater is unlikely [16,50,57]. However, adsorption of glyphosate depends on soil characteristics (soil composition, pH, phosphate content) and any changes may cause desorption and leaching [16]. Glyphosate is relatively stable to chemical and photodegradation and decays mostly through soil microbial action [58]. There are two known pathways of glyphosate decomposition. One leads to the formation of inorganic phosphorous and sarcosine, the latter fully metabolizes to CO₂ and NH₃ [16,59]. The other yields in glyoxylate and aminomethylphosphonic acid (AMPA), which metabolize until complete mineralization [16,59]. The half-life of glyphosate can vary from 2 to 197 days [60]. It may be even longer as the degradation of glyphosate and AMPA is very dependent on soil characteristic and climate conditions [16,59,61]. For example an autumn application of glyphosate in Finland has resulted in half-life values as long as 240 days [61]. It has been demonstrated that soils enriched with aluminium silicates and iron oxides are effective glyphosate sorbents resulting in its longer half-life [16]. AMPA may adsorb onto soil particles more strongly than glyphosate, be less accessible to soil microorganism and thus it is more persistent in the environment and accumulates in soils [16,56,59]. The half-life of AMPA is ranging from 76 to 240 days [60]. In addition, the toxicity of AMPA is comparable to that of glyphosate [60]. Rain and erosion increase the reach of glyphosate and

AMPA into surface water [17,62]. The half-life of glyphosate in water varies from a few days to 91 days [60].

Glyphosate inhibits 5-enolpyruvylshikimate-3-phosphate synthase (EPSPS), participating in the production of phenylalanine, tyrosine, and tryptophan in plants [63]; but this enzyme is not found in mammals, birds, reptiles, amphibians, and insects [64]. Therefore, for years, glyphosate was considered to be safe for human health. According to the oral LD50 for rat (5600 mg/kg), it is categorized as practically nontoxic [63]. However, recent studies have indicated its potential genotoxity on living organisms due to DNA damaging, cytotoxic, and endocrine disruption effects along with inhibitory effects on enzymes involved in biosynthesis [47]. International Agency of Research on Cancer (IARC) has classified glyphosate as "probably carcinogenic to humans" [65]. The current acceptable daily intake level in EU is 0.5 mg glyphosate per kilogram; WHO's ADI level is 1 mg/kg/day; the corresponding level in US is 2 mg/kg/day, indicating diverging opinions of authorities [41,66,67]. In US the drinking water maximum concentration level (MCL) set for glyphosate is 700 µg/l [41]. The Health Advisory Program in US serves the informal technical guidance for glyphosate [41] which is 100 times higher than MCL and it does not match daily consumption. US EPA's Office of Pesticide Programs present guidlines for aquatic life (Tabel 2). Interestingly long-term exposure limit for fish is higher than short-term [44]. There is also an allowed glyphosate level for lifestock water in Canada, which is similar to the one set for human consumption [42,43]. Allowed levels set for glyphosate in drinking and surface waters in different countries are shown in Table 2.

	Drinking water, μg/l	Freshwater short / long-term exposure, µg/l	Ref.
EU	0.1		[5]
Netherland	0.1	77	[5,68]
US	700	21,500 / 25,700*	[41,44]
Canada	280	27,000 / 800	[42,43]
Australia	10		[45]

Table 2. Allowed levels for glyphosate residues.

* US EPA's Office of Pesticide Programs Aquatic Life Benchmarks for fish.

1.4. Methods of detection of pesticide residues in water

1.4.1. Chromatographic methods

Detection of pesticide residues and their metabolites is commonly carried out with chromatographic techniques – gas chromatography (GC), liquid chromatography (LC) or high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) integrated with a UV-Vis, fluorescence and/or mass-spectrometric detector [69–74]. For the detection of carbaryl and glyphosate LC and HPLC methods are acknowledged as standard methods by the International Organization for Standardization (ISO) and United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) [75–79]. The LOD values of some standard methods for the detection of carbaryl and glyphosate are given in Table 3.

 Table 3. LOD values of some standard methods for the detection of carbaryl and glyphosate in water

	Standard	Method	LOD	Ref.
			(µg/l)	
Carbaryl	EPA 632	HPLC/UV	0.02	[75]
Carbaryl	EPA ECM MRID: 45116202	LC/MS/MS	0.03	[76]
Glyphosate	ISO 16308:2014	HPLC/MS/MS	0.03	[77]
Glyphosate	ISO 21458:2008	HPLC/fluorimetry	0.05	[78]
Glyphosate	EPA ECM MRID: 40881601	HPLC/fluorimetry	0.05	[79]

In scientific studies, even lower LOD values have been achieved $-0.01 \mu g/l$ for carbaryl with LC/UV and 0.025 $\mu g/l$ for glyphosate with GC/MS/MS [69,80].

Although these techniques allow trace analysis with excellent sensitivity, reliability and high reproducibility, they are time consuming due to the need of sample pre-treatment and sophisticated equipment making these methods unsuitable for on-site or in-field analyses [6].

1.4.2. Other lab-based methods

In addition to chromatographic methods spectrophotometry, capillary electrophoresis coupled with amperometry or electrochemiluminescence detection, and enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (ELISA) have been proposed for pesticide detection [70]. The first two methods mentioned have similar limitations as chromatographic methods like the need for sample pre-treatment and sophisticated equipment. In addition, compared to chromatography these methods have quite high LOD values: 9.9–2000 and 60–7600 μ g/l, respectively (Table 4) [81–88].

Several ELISA methods involving specific antigen/antibody interaction have been proposed for majority of pesticides with low LOD [89–95]. For the

detection of carbaryl, a LOD value as low as 0.01 μ g/l has been achieved with ELISA [91]. For the detection of glyphosate, ELISA combined with a sample pre-treatment step enabled to achieve LOD value 0.1 μ g/l [95]. The commercially available ELISA Plate Kit for glyphosate has LOD as low as 0.05 μ g/l with detection time of 2 hours [96]. Compared to chromatography ELISA methods allow similar LOD values, but the quite long analyses time (1–4 h) prevents the implementation of ELISA for on-site applications [70,91–95].

1.4.3. Sample pre-treatment

The application of laboratory requires the transportation of samples to a laboratory for analysis. Sampling over an extended period of time can result in losses of easily degradable pesticides. For example glyphosate may degrade rapidly and bind differently to metals and colloids at different pH [97]. In that case sampling requires also fixing and storage procedures [97]. Refrigeration (4 °C) and acidification (pH=2) has been recommended by Kylin to prevent glyphosate losses [97], but these condition are not suitable for all analytical methods.

Depending on the method of analysis extraction of pesticides from sample and extract clean-up may be implemented. Methods like liquid-liquid extraction, solid phase extraction and cation/anion exchange have been regularly employed for the extraction and pre-concentration of analytes before final analysis with chromatographic methods [49,92,98,99]. After separation small molecules which are highly ionic, poorly volatile and lack a chromophore require either pre- or post-column derivatization [49]. Detection of glyphosate at trace levels in environmental samples is difficult due to its zwitterionic nature and its complexation with metal ions [98]. Fluorenylmethylchloroformate (FMOC-Cl) is the most common pre-column derivatization reagent used in combination with chromatography and its reported reaction times with glyphosate range from 30 min to overnight [95,98–100].

Hsu et al. used quick extraction/preconcentration method prior to glyphosate detection with capillary electrophoresis and electrochemical detection with LODs 0.3 μ g/l [101]. Due to the high specificity of alumina towards the phosphate groups of glyphosate, alumina-coated magnetic iron oxide nano-particles as the affinity adsorbent have been used for micro-scale solid phase extraction [101]. This procedure took 5 min and magnetic nanoparticles were isolated from sample solution by employing an external magnet [101].

1.4.4. Biosensors for the detection of pesticides

In order to achieve capability for on-site specific testing of pesticides, biosensors are regarded as a prospective option. Considering the wide selection of potential natural & synthetic biorecognition elements for biosensors and signal transduction technologies (electrochemical, optical, piezoelectric and thermal) which can be combined, numerous different biosensors have been proposed for the detection of pesticides [67,102,103].

1.4.4.1. Immunosensors

Immunosensors are analytical devices integrating immunoactive specific material (antibody, aptamer) with some transducer [103,104]. Depending on if labels are used or not, immunosensors are divided into two categories: labelled and label-free type sensors [104]. Widely used labels are enzymes, fluorescent markers, chemiluminescent dyes and nanoparticles [103,104]. In labelled immunosensors two different assay formats are employed: sandwich and competitive assay [103,104]. The most widely employed signal transduction method in immunosensors is optical [6,103,104], providing a facile, rapid, low-cost and sensitive detection of pesticides [6].

A portable label-free immunosensor based on surface plasmon resonance (SPR) technology has been accomplished for carbaryl analysis by Mauriz et al. This biosensor had LOD 1.38 μ g/l and a complete assay cycle, including regeneration, was accomplished in 20 min [105]. A bismuth-based piezoelectric transducer immunosensor enabled to achieve LOD of carbaryl as low as 0.11 μ g/l [106]. García et al. performed the immunodetection of carbaryl with two different acoustic wave label-free biosensors and obtained LODs 0.09 μ g/l and 0.14 μ g/l [107]. All these label-free biosensors for carbaryl detection were based on competitive assays and used monoclonal antibodies as specific immunoreagent.

Competitive assays have been also used for the detection of glyphosate. Lee et al. proposed two different immunosensors in which glyphosate coupled either with gold or Co-B/SiO₂/dye nanoparticles competed with free glyphosate for the available IgG type anti-glyphosate antibody binding sites [108,109]. In both cases the measurements were carried out in two different ways: by detection of fluorescence intensity and detection of single-probe DNA with an UV spectrophotometer with LODs respectively 10 and 0.046 μ g/l. The analyses time with above biosensors was 2 h [108,109]. Glyphosate detection with carbon dot labeled antibody and antigen-magnetic beads complexes had LOD 8 µg/l with analysis time 1 h [110]. Ding et al. replaced anti-glyphosate antibodies with oligopeptides in surface plasmon resonance (SPR) assay, which showed high specificity, but a relatively high LOD value (98 μ g/l) [111]. In this biosensor glyphosate was covalently immobilized on amino-activated silica beads with the help of some carbodiimide. Silica beads served as a solid support to prevent the loss of glyphosate during screening procedures with oligopeptides used for glyphosate biorecognition [111]. González-Martínez et al. applied glyphosate derivatization prior to the assay by acetylation [93]. This immunosensor system was designed to carry out automatically all the steps in flow manifold. Sample pretreatment step enabled to achieve low LOD value (0.021 μ g/l) with analysis time less than 1 h [93].

1.4.4.2. Inhibition-based biosensors

In addition to immunosensors, inhibition-based biosensors have been developed for the detection of pesticides, although these are less specific than immunosensors [6].

Enzymes used in this kind biosensors include cholinesterases (AChE, BChE), tyrosinase (TYR), horseradish peroxidase (HRP), urease etc. [112]. The inhibition-based biosensors are not selective to a particular pesticide, but to several compounds. For example, the activity of AChE is inhibited by carba-mates, but also by organophosphorus compounds [6].

The biggest number of inhibition-based biosensors has been developed for the detection of carbaryl employing inhibition of AChE. These biosensors are mainly based on electrochemical detection with LODs $\geq 0.15 \ \mu g/l \ [113-119]$. Inhibition-based biosensors developed for the detection of glyphosate mostly employ inhibition of peroxidases and are based on electrochemical detection with LODs $\geq 0.16 \ \mu g/l \ [120-122]$. The analysis time depends on the incubation time of the analyte and enzyme and remains mostly within 30 min $\ [113-115,120-122]$.

A condensed summary of the major analytical methods for carbaryl and glyphosate detection is in Table 4. Although there are several methods with their pros and cons available for the detection of pesticides, there are still no methods for real-time *in situ* detection of pesticides, allowing automated monitoring and control of these compounds.

Glyphosate detection	Derivatization,	Analysis	LOD,	Ref.
	pretreatment	time, h	μg/l	
GC/MS/MS,	+	> 6	≥0.025	[69,77–79]
HPLC/Fluorimetry,				
HPLC/MS/MS				
ELISA	+/	> 1	≥ 0.05	[96]
Spectrophotometrical	+	> 1.5	\geq 9.9	[81-83]
Immunosensor	+/	< 2	≥ 0.021	[93,108–111]
Inhibition based biosensor	-	~ 0.5	≥ 0.16	[120–122]
Carbaryl detection				
LC/UV, HPLC/MS/MS,	+	>1	≥ 0.01	[31,75,76]
HPLC/UV				
ELISA	-	< 3	≥ 0.01	[89,91]
Spectrophotometrical	+	~0.5	2000	[87]
Immunosensor	-	~1	≥ 0.09	[105–107]
Inhibition based biosensor	-	~ 0.5	≥0.15	[113–119]

Table 4. A short comparison of methods used for the detection of glyphosate and carbaryl.

2. AIMS OF THE STUDY

The main goal of the present study was the development of biosensing platforms for the detection of different pesticides – carbaryl and glyphosate, potentially allowing quick and easy on-site monitoring of these compounds in natural water. The more detailed sub-points were as follows:

- Design and preparation of biosensing systems for the detection of carbaryl and glyphosate.
- Studies on the mechanisms of reactions going on in biosensing systems.
- Establishing optimal protocols for the detection of these pesticides.
- Examination of sample pre-concentration and stabilization options for biosensor-based analyses to increase sensitivity and reliability of results.
- Comparison of the results obtained with biosensor and a standard method (HPLC/MS).
- Testing of biosensor applicability in real or spiked samples.

3. EXPERIMENTAL

3.1. Design and set up of biosensing systems for the detection of carbaryl and glyphosate

The studied biosensors for carbaryl and glyphosate were based on different biorecognition and signal detection principles. The biosensing system for carbaryl was based on inhibition of tyrosinase by carbaryl. It comprised soluble tyrosinase (EC 1.14.18.1) and a cylindrical membrane-covered Clark-type amperometric oxygen sensor (Elke Sensor LLC), following the decrease of dissolved oxygen concentration (DOC) in samples which was caused by tyrosinasecatalyzed oxidation of tyrosine [I] (Fig. 1).



Figure 1. Scheme of carbaryl detection system based on inhibition of tyrosinase by carbaryl.

The biosensing system for glyphosate was based on the detection of fluorescence signal generated by quantitative replacement of glyphosate by 5-carboxytetramethylrhodamine (5-TAMRA) conjugated glyphosate in glyphosate/antiglyphosate antibody immunocomplexes, which were attached onto bioactivated microbeads (Fig. 2).



Figure 2. Scheme of glyphosate immunosensing system based on bead injection analysis.

These complexes were formed on microbeads, decorated with covalently bound anti-glyphosate antibodies, and forming single-use renewable micro-columns for the attachment of glyphosate from flows. The measurements were carried out on FIAlab 3500B system (FIAlab Instruments) and the fluorescence intensity of bound 5-TAMRA-glyphosate (5-T-g) was detected with an OceanOptics 2000+ spectrometer (with advanced electronics and extended 200 μ m wide slit). For light transmission, fibres with core diameter of 400 μ m were used. The anti-glyphosate IgY-type antibodies (Agrisera AB, AS132739) were immobilized onto microbeads (Sephadex G50 Medium, d=50–150 μ m) with the help of epichlorohydrin [II]:

$$\bigcirc -OH + CI \xrightarrow{O} OH \xrightarrow{O} OH \xrightarrow{O} O \xrightarrow{O} Ab \xrightarrow{Ab-NH_2} OH \xrightarrow{Ab} O$$

3.1.1. Synthesis of 5-TAMRA-glyphosate

5-T-g was synthesized from glyphosate tetrabutylammonium salt according to the following scheme [II] (Fig. 3). The product was purified directly with reverse phase flash-chromatography and analyzed with HPLC-MS. The synthesized 5-T-g was stored at -18 °C and dissolved in Dulbecco's phosphate-buffer on the day of the experiment [II].



Figure 3. Synthesis of 5-TAMRA-glyphosate.

3.1.2. Characterization of anti-glyphosate antibody affinity towards 5-TAMRA-glyphosate

The anti-glyphosate antibody affinity towards 5-TAMRA-glyphosate was characterized using fluorescence anisotropy (FA) method. FA measurements were carried out in the kinetic mode with PHERAstar (BMG Labtech, Germany) microplate reader, using an optical module with 540 nm (excitation) and 590 nm (emission) Filters. Black 96-well flat bottom polystyrene nonbinding (NBS) surface microplates (Corning, Product No.3993) were used in all experiments [II].

The specific binding of 5-T-g to anti-glyphosate antibodies was measured in the absence or presence of an excess of non-labelled glyphosate, and the difference between these values was defined as specific binding [II]. For the measurement of dissociation, the excess of non-labelled glyphosate was added to the reaction medium after the equilibrium was reached. The binding affinity of 5-T-g to antibody was calculated from binding experiments, where the probe concentration was kept fixed and the antibody concentration was varied [II]. The FA signal at time moment *t* was calculated according to equation (2):

$$FA(t) = \frac{I(t)_{II} - I(t)_{\perp}}{I(t)_{II} + 2 \cdot I(t)_{\perp}}$$
(2)

where $I(t)_{\parallel}$ and $I(t)_{\perp}$ correspond to fluorescence intensities of parallel and perpendicular components of emitted light [II].

The K_D value, characterizing the affinity of 5-T-g binding was calculated with GraphPad PrismTM 5.04 (GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA, USA) according to a scheme proposed earlier [123] [II].

3.2. Pesticide assessment protocols

All kinetic measurements for the detection of carbaryl were carried out in airsaturated solutions under continuous stirring in an airtight thermostated glass cell (V=35 ml) at 25 °C. When the oxygen sensor output had stabilized after its immersement into the reaction medium containing L-tyrosine (final concentration 0.15 mM) and carbaryl in 0.1 M phosphate buffer solution (PBS) (pH=6.50), the reaction was started by injection of 100 µl of soluble tyrosinase (final concentration 7 µg/ml). Changes of dissolved oxygen concentration, dependent on carbaryl concentration were recorded with the interval of 1 s; the collected data was normalized (I_t/I_0) and debugged. The tyrosine oxidation reaction was characterized with the kinetic (coefficient *B*) or the whole signal change parameter (coefficient *A*), both calculated according to the dynamic biosensor model [124]:

$$\frac{I(t)}{I_o} = A \exp(-Bt) - 2A \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} (-1)^n \frac{\tau_s}{n^2 / B - \tau_s} \left[\exp(-Bt) - \exp\left(-n^2 \frac{t}{\tau_s}\right) \right] + C \qquad (3)$$

We used SigmaPlot[®]5.0 (SPSS Software, USA) and GraphPad Prism[®]3.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA) for data analysis and calculation of biosensor calibration parameters [I].

For the detection of glyphosate, an earlier immunoassay protocol in a similar BIA-based biosensor set-up [125,126] was modified, and optimal experimental conditions according to the specific characteristics of glyphosate measurements found. To obtain a detectable change in the biosensor signal, the amount of 5-T-g for the replacement of bound glyphosate was found by varying the concentration of 5-T-g from 0.1 to 1.9 μ M. In addition, we modified the incubation times for the attachment of glyphosate to anti-glyphosate antibodies on microbeads and for the replacement of glyphosate by 5-T-g from 10 to 600 sec. This step was of major importance as glyphosate and 5-T-g have different affinities towards anti-glyphosate antibodies. Finally, the optimal amount of phosphate buffer saline (PBS; 0.1 M, 0.15 M NaCl; pH 7.2) and its flow rate for removing the unbound 5-T-g were found. All measurements were carried out at room temperature [II].

3.3. Validation and testing of biosensor results

3.3.1. Carbaryl biosensor

The carbaryl biosensor was tested with the potato peel removed from the washed potato by grating as thinly as possible. Grated wet mass of potato was added into the reaction medium and transferred to a measuring cell with PBS (0.1 M, pH 6.5). Dry matter of the grated potato crust was 16.44% (dried at 60 °C in an oven) [127].

3.3.2. Glyphosate biosensor

The results obtained with glyphosate immunoassay were validated with highperformance liquid chromatography (Infinity 1290, Agilent Technology), using tandem mass spectrometer with Agilent Jet stream electrospray ionization source (Agilent 6490) in spiked surface water samples from the river Valgejõgi collected according to ISO standard 5667-6 [II].

3.4. Concentration and stabilization of glyphosate in water samples with aminoactivated nanoparticles

In order to increase the sensitivity and reliability of glyphosate analysis, aminoactivated nanoparticles were used for preconcentration and stabilization of glyphosate-containing samples. Glyphosate was attached onto two types of solid particles – aminoactivated silica beads (ASB, d=30 μ m) and aminoactivated magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles (AFeNP, d=14 nm). For the activation of glyphosate carboxyl groups, EDC (N-(3-dimethylaminopropyl)-N'ethylcarbodiimide hydrochloride) and NHS (N-Hydroxysuccinimide) chemistry was used:



Glyphosate attachment was carried out at room temperature within 1–120 minutes. Unbound glyphosate was removed with consecutive washing with 0.1% SDS solution and DI water [III]. The efficiency of glyphosate binding was determined with a Shimadzu UV-1800 spectrometer using the ascorbic acid method [128] [III].

4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1. Carbaryl biosensor

The carbaryl biosensor was based on detection of the inhibiting effect of carbaryl on the catalytic activity of soluble tyrosinase. As the biosensor dynamic response was used instead of the steady-state signal for the detection of carbaryl, the inhibition kinetics was carefully characterized [I].

The decrease of DOC in time due to the tyrosinase-catalyzed oxidation of tyrosine was a typical S-shaped curve, which dynamics at constant initial tyrosine (0.15 mM was optimal for this study) and oxygen (0.26 mM) concentrations was dependent on the concentration of carbaryl (Fig. 4) [I].



Figure 4. Normalized biosensor output current at different concentrations of carbaryl: (1) 0 mg/l; (2) 0.3 mg/l; (3) 1 mg/l; (4) 0.5 mg/l; (5) 0.7 mg/l). Experiments were carried out under constant stirring at 25 °C at tyrosinase concentration of 7 μ g/ml and tyrosine concentration of 0.15 mM in PBS (0.1 M, pH 6.5).

These curves comprised of the initial "lag" period and the decrease of oxygen concentration due to the tyrosinase-catalyzed oxidation of tyrosine. The biosensor output curves obtained were characterized using a dynamic biosensor model (Eq. 3) [124]. The initial delay was caused both by the inertia of the oxygen sensor and the formation of the active form of tyrosinase, described in detail by Ramsden et al. [129]. The length of this "lag" period, calculated as the factor τ_s was in the range 180–300 s and its value did not depend on carbaryl

concentration. The reaction was characterized with two different process parameters – total signal change (parameter A) and the initial maximum slope of signal decrease (kinetic parameter B), which were calculated with high correlation coefficient (r>0.97) and irrelevant deviations of experimental data from the model (P>>0.05) [I]. Both parameters A and B were used to study the effect of the carbaryl concentration on the reaction dynamics. The curve of the kinetic parameter B as a function of carbaryl concentration at tyrosine concentration 0.15 mM is shown in Figure 5. This curve is linear up to carbaryl concentration range between 3–6 mg/l [I].



Figure 5. Calculated kinetic parameter at different carbaryl concentrations. Experiments were carried out under constant stirring at 25 °C at tyrosinase concentration of 7 μ g/ml and tyrosine concentration of 0.15 mM in PBS (0.1 M, pH 6.5).

At all measured concentrations of carbaryl the calculated kinetic parameter B was greater than in the absence of carbaryl in the reaction mixture, indicating that carbaryl behaved not as an inhibitor against tyrosinase but as an inhibitory substrate. The reaction mechanism of carbaryl inhibition and the corresponding rate equation are analogous to these usually considered for uncompetitive inhibition:

$$B = \frac{V'c_{carbaryl}}{K'_{M} + c_{carbaryl} + (c_{carbaryl})^{2}/K_{i}}$$
(5)

where V' and K'_M correspond, but are not equivalent to Michaelis-Menten parameters, B is the kinetic parameter [I]. Based on the data received the dependence 1/B vs $1/c_{carbaryl}$ was also constructed. The obtained hyperbola indicates that carbaryl acts as an inhibiting substrate on tyrosinase and this may be the reason why in some cases it has not been possible to determine low carbaryl concentrations with biosensors using kinetic measurements [117] [I].

Carbaryl concentration cannot be directly determined from the kinetic parameter because to each value of the kinetic parameter correspond two different carbaryl concentrations (Fig. 5). Therefore additional criteria need to be used. The total signal change (parameter A) calculated from output signal of a biosensor along with parameter B suits best for this purpose. The dependence of total signal change A on carbaryl concentration is shown in Figure 6. Parameter A depends on the carbaryl concentration hyperbolically, with the apparent values for the half-limiting value constant $K_{1/2}=7.8\pm4.4$ mg/l and limiting value $A_{max}=0.21\pm0.04$ [I].



Figure 6. Calculated total signal change at different carbaryl concentrations. Experiments were carried out under constant stirring at 25 °C at tyrosinase concentration of 7 μ g/ml and tyrosine concentration of 0.15 mM in PBS (0.1 M, pH 6.5).

For the determination of carbaryl concentrations it is reasonable to use these two calculated independent parameters simultaneously. From Figure 5 it can be seen that for concentrations of carbaryl below 1 mg/l and above 15 mg/l, the

calculated kinetic parameter *B* value is less than 6×10^{-4} sec⁻¹ and higher at carbaryl concentrations between 1 and 14 mg/l. So, if $B < 6 \times 10^{-4}$ sec⁻¹, then it is necessary to analyse parameter *A* (Fig. 6). If the concentration of carbaryl in the solution is about 1 mg/l based on both calculated parameters, the concentration of carbaryl is determined from the initial slope of the curve of kinetic parameter as a function of carbaryl concentration (Fig. 5) [I]. The scheme shown in Figure 7 illustrates data analysis and determination of carbaryl concentration.



Figure 7. The scheme for the determination of carbaryl.

The limit of detection for carbaryl was 0.2 mg/l calculated as the carbaryl concentration corresponding to the signal, exceeding the background signal by 3 standard deviation values. The biosensor allowed to measure carbaryl residues in drinking water on level, suggested by The US Health Advisory Program (0.4 mg/l) and in livestock water on level, which is recommended in Canada (1.1 mg/l) [41,43]. The process of analysis is quite quick (< 1 h) and simple, and can be automated.

4.2. Glyphosate biosensor

The glyphosate biosensor was based on a totally different detection principle – competitive immunoanalysis, which unlike inhihibition-based biosensors allows very selective detection of the selected analyte.

For the attachment and preconcentration of glyphosate from samples we used anti-glyphosate antibodies immobilized onto microbeads. Glyphosate in its complex with anti-glyphosate antibody was replaced by synthetic labeled conjugate. For this purpose 5-TAMRA-glyphosate was synthesized [II]. The fluore-scence marker was conjugated to the secondary amino group of glyphosate to mimic the immunogenic glyphosate conjugates used for the production of anti-glyphosate antibodies.

As conjugation affects also antigen's binding properties to antibody, the binding properties of 5-T-g to the anti-glyphosate antibody were studied using the FA method (Fig. 8) [II].



Figure 8. Time course of anisotropy change caused by the binding of 5-T-g (10 nM) to anti-glyphosate antibody. After 100 min incubation, the dissociation of the formed antigen-antibody complex was initiated by the addition of glyphosate (final c=2.5 mM, lines correspond to the one-phase exponential decay fits). FA(t) values were calculated according to Eq. 2.

The FA data was used for the determination of steady state values of total and nonspecific binding affinities of 5-T-g at different antibody concentrations and building of binding curves, as described earlier [123]. These binding curves (Fig. 9) allowed to estimate the K_D value $2.9\pm0.2 \mu$ M for 5-T-g which is quite moderate compared to common nanomolar affinities of antigen-antibody interaction, probably due to the relatively small size of the antigen [II].



Figure 9. Binding curves of 5-T-g to anti-glyphosate antibody. 5-T-g (10 nM) was incubated with different concentrations of anti-glyphosate antibody in the absence (total binding) and presence (non-specific binding) of 2.5 mM glyphosate. FA (t) values were calculated according to Eq. 2 from data collected after 100 min incubation at 25 °C. The data is shown as the mean \pm the standard deviation of two independent experiments.

Lower affinity of glyphosate towards anti-glyphosate antibody compared to 5-T-g was considered for the optimization of the glyphosate immunoassay. So, 30 min incubation time was used for the attachment of glyphosate to the bioactivated beads to produce measureable signals. This was 10 times longer compared to a similar BIA-based biosensor based on nanomolar range affinities [126].

The optimal concentration of 5-T-g was found by varying the concentration of 5-T-g from 0.1 to 1.9 μ M. Based on the obtained results, it was found that the signal of 5-T-g was sufficiently quantifiable at 0.5 μ M and this concentration was used in the following measurements [II]. Resulting from the different affinities of glyphosate and 5-T-g, the determination of the optimal incubation time of 5-T-g for the replacement of glyphosate was of major importance. The incubation time was varied from 10 to 600 sec. In our set-up, the optimal incubation time of 5-T-g for the replacement of glyphosate was 10 sec, leading to quantitative partial displacement of glyphosate [II].

The amount of PBS and its flow rate for removing the unbound 5-T-g was also optimized. It was found that washing with 40 μ l buffer with flow rate 5 μ L s⁻¹ was sufficient to remove all unbound 5-T-g [II]. At lower flow rates the efficiency of washing did not improve and at higher flow rates the microcolumn became unstable. The total time for glyphosate analysis using the modified protocol, was 37 min.

The dependence of the biosensor output, which was calculated as a difference of average signal of intensity before adding 5-T-g and after removing unbound 5-T-g, on glyphosate concentration is shown in Fig. 10 [II].



Figure 10. Dependence of the biosensor signal on glyphosate concentration in PBS (0.01 M, pH 7.2, 0.15 M NaCl); [5-T-g]=0.5 μ M. • – background signal ([5-T-g]=0.5 μ M) with no glyphosate present.

The calibration plot was linear in the whole studied glyphosate concentration range up to 30 mM. Relatively low affinity which was evaluated by the FA method allows sensing of glyphosate in millimolar concentration range. The LOD value for glyphosate was 2.4 mM (406 mg/l), calculated as the glyphosate concentration corresponding to the signal, exceeding the background signal by 3 standard deviation values. The limit of quantification, which signal exceeds the background by 10 standard deviation values, was 8.1 mM (1369 mg/l). The obtained LOD (406 mg/l) and LOQ (1369 mg/l) values for direct glyphosate detection are considerably high, however the proposed immunoassay allows to measure glyphosate residues in water on levels, which are relevant to assure safety on the site of glyphosate application [II].

4.3. Applicability of pesticide biosensors

For the detection of carbaryl with biosensor, preliminary studies were carried out in potatoes, as the major route of carbaryl intake for the general population is food [130]. Potatoes contain tyrosine and also tyrosinase naturally, so the effect of potato test samples on the reaction parameters was measured [127, 131]. First we studied the dependence of the total signal change A on the concentration of tyrosine added to the potato, and obtained a linear dependence (Fig. 11 A) [127]. While no potato was added and measurements were made at a specific tyrosinase concentration, the total change in the signal was hyperbolically dependent on the tyrosine concentration (Fig. 11 B) [131].



Figure 11. Dependence of total signal change parameter *A* on tyrosine concentration. Experiments were carried out under constant stirring at 25 °C in PBS (0.1 M, pH 6.5). **A**: with grated potato peel (17.3 mg/ml), [tyrosinase]=0 μ g/ml, [carbaryl]=0 mg/l; **B**: without grated potato peel, [tyrosinase]=7 μ g/ml, [carbaryl]=0 mg/l.

The difference is due to the fact that the potato contains both tyrosine and tyrosinase and the reaction is triggered by the addition of the potato peel to the reaction cell. Based on the change of parameter *A*, it was calculated that the activity of tyrosine and tyrosinase in 1 g grated potato crust corresponded to 0.09 mM tyrosine in the presence of 7 μ g/l tyrosinase [127]. The dependence of the calculated total signal change (parameter *A*) on the concentration of potato in the samples was a linear function with a slope $(1.46\pm0.04)\times10^{-2}$ l/g (R=0.95) (Fig. 12) [131].



Figure 12. Dependence of total signal change parameter A on grated potato mass. Experiments were carried out under constant stirring at 25 °C in PBS (0.1 M, pH 6.5).

The applicability of the glyphosate biosensor was tested in the surface water samples and validated with a standard HPLC method [II]. Both methods resulted in 6–37% less glyphosate in the spiked with glyphosate surface water samples than the actual concentration. This can be explained with the fast degradation of glyphosate and the absorbance of glyphosate onto the vials. Though, all biases with both methods were below 50% which is an acceptable limit for such a problematic analyte as glyphosate. The results of glyphosate detection in surface water with the immunobiosensor and HPLC method were in good correlation and indicate the applicability of the glyphosate immunoassay for the detection of glyphosate in surface water [II].

4.4. Stabilization and concentration of samples

To improve the sensitivity of glyphosate biosensor and enhance the reliability of glyphosate quantitative analyses, we studied options for the stabilization and concentration of glyphosate samples.

This method was based on the attachment of glyphosate onto microparticles. Two different types of aminoactivated solid beads – silica microparticles and magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles were used. Glyphosate immobilization on the aminoactivated beads was carried out using EDC/NHS chemistry. The optimization of the immobilization process was focused on the production of reproducible amounts of bound glyphosate within minimal time. Two operational parameters were optimized: to minimize the incubation time for the attachment

of glyphosate, and achieve the most effective procedure for removing of all unbound glyphosate from the mixture [III].

For the separation of the unsoluble particles with attached glyphosate, two different techniques were used. Magnetic extraction was used for AFeNP-s and vacuum filtering for ASBs. The magnetic separation was very effective and fast, vacuum filtering for ASBs had to be repeated for 10 times [III]. Next we optimized time, required for glyphosate immobilization onto particles. Glyphosate recovery after 1–120 minutes immobilization showed that the maximum immobilization yield was achieved already within 1 minute incubation with ASB. For AFeNPs, the shortest time for detectable quantitative attachment of glyphosate was 10 minutes [III].

Glyphosate binding graphs were prepared for both ASB and AFeNP (Fig. 13).



Figure 13. Glyphosate binding onto **A**: aminoactivated silica beads; [ASB]=200 mg/l; **B**: AFeNP; [AFeNP]=20 mg/l. The immobilization of glyphosate was carried out at room temperature in 10 mM HEPES buffer at pH 7.0.

The concentration of ASBs (200 mg/l) used for immobilization was taken as proposed in the literature [111]. The dependence of glyphosate recovery on the concentration of AFeNPs was studied in the AFeNPs concentration range 20–80 mg/l. We found that this function was linear and AFeNPs concentration 20 mg/l was the minimal concentration to get reliable results for glyphosate immobilization studies [III].

Calibration plots for ASB and AFeNP were linear over the range of glyphosate concentrations studied (Fig. 13). The detection limits were quite high, resulting from the detection limit of phosphorus by the applied ascorbic acid method (0.1–1 mg/l) [128]. The slope of calibration curve defines the sensitivity of detection, and it was similar for ASB and AFeNP, although the concentration of aminoactivated silica beads was 10 times higher than that of AFeNPs. In order to increase the sensitivity of the system, the amount of nanoparticles can be increased [III]. To characterize the binding capacity of ASB and AFeNP particles, we assessed the number of amino groups per particle available for glyphosate immobilization. Calculations based on measured maximal recovery of glyphosate revealed that both ASB and AFeNP particles had approximately 1000 amino groups per particle [III].

The study indicated that both types of aminoactivated solid beads can applied for the stabilization and concentration of glyphosate-containing probes. Comparing the total time required for immobilization and washing procedures, this is considerably lower for AFeNPs due to the very effective separation of unbound glyphosate. Accordingly, the application of AFeNPs has a high potential to be integrated with on-line and *in situ* analyses for monitoring of glyphosate [III].

We also studied the stability of glyphosate-AFeNP complexes. These complexes were stable for at least one week at room temperature and pH 7.0, which is sufficient for the transport or suspended analyses of samples [132].

CONCLUSIONS

Two basically different biosensing systems for the detection of 2 problematic pesticides – carbaryl and glyphosate have been developed. In addition, a method for pre-concentration and stabilization of glyphosate from samples analyses onto microbeads has been proposed.

The biosensing system for carbaryl was based on inhibition of tyrosinase by carbaryl. The biosensor output signal was analyzed with the biosensor dynamic model, which allowed rapid calculation of kinetic and steady state parameters from pre-equilibrium data. Study on the alteration of tyrosinase activity by carbaryl indicated that carbaryl acted as an inhibitory substrate of tyrosinase and at low concentrations accelerated tyrosinase-catalyzed oxidation of tyrosine by dissolved oxygen. For the determination of carbaryl, it was necessary to use two independent reaction parameters combined. This combined use of two parameters allowed to use the biosensor for carbaryl detection within concentration range 0.1–20 mg/l. The limit of detection for carbaryl was found to be 0.2 mg/l.

An immunoassay for glyphosate detection, based on the displacement of glyphosate in its complex with anti-glyphosate antibody by 5-TAMRA-glyphosate was proposed. The antigen/antibody complexes were formed on microbeads, with the covalently bound anti-glyphosate antibodies. The beads formed single-use renewable micro-columns for the attachment of glyphosate from flows. The measurements were carried out on flow injection analysis system and the fluorescence intensity of bound 5-TAMRA-glyphosate was detected. Optimal experimental conditions were found by varying the concentration of 5-TAMRA-glyphosate, incubation time, etc. Using the optimized protocol, the dependence of the biosensor signal on glyphosate concentration was studied both in buffer and surface water samples. The limit of detection of this biosensor, determined by the relatively low affinity of glyphosate towards antiglyphosate antibody, is in millimolar concentration range. This is sufficient to apply the proposed immunoassay for in situ glyphosate analysis for timely detection of glyphosate pollution in water reservoirs before glyphosate dilution and degradation and assure relevant safety levels. The main advantage of the method is the fact that the sample pre-treatment step is not required and the results are obtained in about half an hour.

The biosensor applicability was tested in spiked samples and compared with HPLC standard method. Both methods resulted in less glyphosate in the spiked with glyphosate surface water samples than the actual concentration The results of glyphosate detection in surface water obtained with the immunobiosensor and HPLC method were in good correlation and indicated the applicability of the glyphosate immunoassay for the detection of glyphosate in surface water.

The carbaryl biosensor was tested in grated potato mass, which naturally contains both tyrosine and tyrosinase. Activities of these compound should be taken into account when inhibition based biosensor are used for carbaryl determination in potato mass. In order to increase sensitivity of glyphosate assessment, a preconcentration step is often integrated. Binding of glyphosate to a solid support not only helps to concentrate the samples, but also improves the stability of glyphosate, since glyphosate may degrade during sampling and analysis. Two different types of aminoactivated solid beads – silica microparticles and magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles were used for the attachment of glyphosate. Binding of glyphosate to aminoactivated beads was carried out via carboxylic group of glyphosate using EDC/NHS chemistry. The study indicated the high potential of AFeNPs for the application of stabilization and concentration of glyphosate, as all necessary procedures could be carried out with high efficiency within 20 minutes. In addition, the obtained results indicated that the AFeNP/glyphosate complexes were stable for at least one week at room temperature.

REFERENCES

- [1] US Environmental Protection Agency. Basic Information about Pesticide Ingredients. https://www.epa.gov/ingredients-used-pesticide-products/basic-information-aboutpesticide-ingredients, 7.04.2020
- [2] Atwood, D., Paisley-Jones, C. US Environmental Protection Agency. Pesticides Industry Sales and Usage. 2008–2012 Market Estimates. https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2017-01/documents/pesticidesindustry-sales-usage-2016 0.pdf, 7.04.2020
- [3] Global Pesticides Market By Type, 2013–2023. https://www.techsciresearch.com/report/global-pesticides-market/1311.html, 7.04.2020
- [4] Collier, R., Jukes, A., Daniel, C., Hommes, M. Ecological selectivity of pesticides and pesticide application methods, IOBC-WPRS Bulletin. *Integrated Protection in Field Vegetables*, 2016, 118, 94–98.
- [5] European Union Council Directive 98/83/EC on the quality of water intended for human consumption. http://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri= OJ:L:1998:330:0032:0054:EN:PDF, 7.04.2020
- [6] Yan, X., Li, H., Su, X. Review of optical sensors for pesticides, *Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 2018, 103, 1–20.
- [7] Buchel, K. H. Chemistry of Pesticides. Inc. New York, USA: John Wiley & Sons, 1983.
- [8] Eesti Statistikaamet. Turustatud taimekaitsevahendid toimeaine järgi. https://www.stat.ee/, 7.04.2020
- [9] US Environmental Protection Agency, Health Effects Division. Office of Pesticide Programs. Carbaryl – Report of the Cancer Assessment Review Committee, 2002. https://www3.epa.gov/pesticides/chem_search/cleared_reviews/csr_PC-056801_12-Feb-02_a.pdf, 7.04.2020
- [10] US Geological Survey. Estimated Annual Agricultural Pesticide Use. https://water.usgs.gov/nawqa/pnsp/usage/maps/show_map.php?year=2015&map= CARBARYL&hilo=L&disp=Carbaryl, 7.04.2020
- [11] Pesticide Action Network UK. Which pesticides are banned in Europa? https://www.pan-europe.info/old/Resources/Links/Banned_in_the_EU.pdf, 7.04.2020
- [12] Gavrilescu, M. Fate of Pesticides in the Environment and its Bioremediation. *Engineering of Life Science*, 2005, 5(6), 497–526.
- [13] Jervais, G., Luukinen, B., Buhl, K., Stone, D. 2,4-D Technical Fact Sheet. National Pesticide Information Center, Oregon State University Extension Services. http://npic.orst.edu/factsheets/archive/2,4-DTech.html, 7.04.2020
- [14] Cheremisinoff, N. P., Rosenfeld, P. E. DDT and Related Compound. In: *Handbook* of Pollution Prevention and Cleaner Production: Best Practices in the Agrochemical Industry. pp 247–259. Elsevier Inc. All, 2011.
- [15] Fowler, C., Callahan, M., Slimak, M. Water-related environmental fate of 129 priority pollutants Volume1: Introduction and technical background, metals and inorganics, pesticides and PCBs. Washington, DC: Springfield, 1979.
- [16] Borggaard, O. K., Gimsing, A. L. Fate of glyphosate in soil and the possibility of leaching to ground and surface waters: a review. *Pest Management Science*, 2008, 64(4), 441–456.

- [17] Todorovic, G. R., Rampazzo, N., Mentler, A., Blum, W. E. H., Eder, A., Strauss, P. Influence of soil tillage and erosion on the dispersion of glyphosate and aminomethylphosphonic acid in agricultural soils. *International Agrophysics*, 2014, 28(1), 93–100.
- [18] Mahmood, I., Imadi, S.R., Shazadi, K., Gul, A., Hakeem, K. R. Effects of Pesticides on Environment. In: *Plant, Soil and Microbes Volume 1: Implications in Crop Science.* pp 253–269. Springer, 2016.
- [19] Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations. Decision guidance documents. DDT. Rome-Geneva, 1991. http://www.pic.int/Portals/5/DGDs/DGD DDT EN.pdf, 7.04.2020
- [20] van der Oost, R., Beyer, J., Vermeulen, N. P. E. Fish bioaccumulation and biomarkers in environmental risk assessment: a review. *Environmental Toxicology* and Pharmacology, 2003, 13(2), 57-149.
- [21] Lushchak, V. I., Matviishyn, T. M., Husak, V. V., Storey, J. M., Storey, K. B. Pesticide toxicity: a mechanistic approach. *EXCLI Journal*, 2018, 17, 1101–1136.
- [22] Grier, J. W. Ban of DDT and subsequent recovery of reproduction in bald eagles. *Science*, 1982, 218(4578), 1232–1235.
- [23] Xiao, P., Mori, T., Kamei, I., Kiyota, H., Takagi, K., Kondo R. Novel metabolic pathways of organochlorine pesticides dieldrin and aldrin by the white rot fungi of the genus Phlebia. *Chemosphere*, 2011, 85(2), 218–224.
- [24] US Department of Health and Human Service. Toxicological profile for Aldrin/ Dieldrin.

https://www.atsdr.cdc.gov/toxprofiles/tp1.pdf, 7.04.2020

- [25] Purnomo, A. S. Microbe-Assisted Degradation of Aldrin and Dieldrin. In: *Microbe-Induced Degradation of Pesticides*. pp 1–22. Switzerland: Springer International Publishing, 2017.
- [26] Cox, C., Surgan M. Unidentified Inert Ingredients in Pesticides: Implications for Human and Environmental Health. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 2006, 114(12), 1803–1806.
- [27] Hernández, A. F., Parron, T., Tsatsakis, A. M., Requena, M., Alarcón, R., López-Guarnido, O. Toxic effects of pesticide mixtures at a molecular level: Their relevance to human health. *Toxicology*, 2013, 307, 136–145.
- [28] Jayaraj, R., Megha, P., Sreedev, P. Organochlorine pesticides, their toxic effects on living organisms and their fate in the environment. *Interdisciplinary Toxicology*, 2016, 9(3–4), 90–100.
- [29] EU Pesticides Database. http://ec.europa.eu/sanco_pesticides/public/index.cfm, 7.04.2020
- [30] Gunasekara A. S., Rubin A. L., Goh K. S., Spurlock F. C., Tjeerdema R. S. Environmental Fate and Toxicology of Carbaryl. In: *Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*. pp 95–121. New York: Springer, 2008.
- [31] World Health Organization. Carbaryl in Drinking-water. Background document for development of WHO Guidelines for Drinking-water Quality. https://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/dwq/chemicals/ carbaryl_2add_feb2008.pdf, 7.04.2020
- [32] Goddard, J., Moraru, G. M. Control External Parasites of Poultry. http://extension.msstate.edu/sites/default/files/publications/informationsheets/is0331_web.pdf, 7.04.2020
- [33] National Institute for Occupational Safety and Health. Carbaryl. https://www.cdc.gov/niosh/npg/npgd0100.html, 7.04.2020

- [34] Gardentech. Sevin®, Ready-To-Use 5% Dust. https://www.gardentech.com/products/sevin/sevin-5-ready-to-use-5-dust, 7.04.2020
- [35] Reinders.Inc. Sevin SL Insecticide. https://www.reinders.com/products/25872/, 7.04.2020
- [36] Howard, P. H. Handbook of Environmental Fate and Exposure Data for Organic Chemicals: Pesticides. pp: 3–15. Chelsea: Lewis Publishers, 1991.
- [37] Bond, C., Cross, A., Buhl, K., Stone, D. Carbaryl General Fact Sheet. National Pesticide Information Center, Oregon State University Extension Services. http://npic.orst.edu/factsheets/carbarylgen.html, 7.04.2020
- [38] Bondarenko, S., Gan, J. Degradation and sorption of selected organophosphate and carbamate insecticides in urban stream sediments. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 2004, 23(8), 1809–1814.
- [39] Hayes, W. J., Laws, E. R. Handbook of pesticide toxicology. San Diego: Academic Press, 1991.
- [40] Budavari, S. *The Merck Index: an encyclopedia of chemicals, drugs and biologicals.* New Jersey: Merck and Co, 1996.
- [41] US Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Science and Technology Health and Ecological Criteria Division. EPA Standards and Health Advisories. https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/201803/documents/dwtable2018.pdf, 7.04.2020
- [42] Health Canada. Guidelines for Canadian Drinking Water Quality Summary Table. https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/hc-sc/migration/hc-sc/ewhsemt/alt_formats/pdf/pubs/water-eau/sum_guide-res_recom/sum_guideres_recom-eng.pdf, 7.04.2020
- [43] Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment. Canadian Environmental Quality Guidelines. https://www.ccme.ca/en/resources/canadian_environmental_ quality guidelines/index.html, 7.04.2020
- [44] US Environmental Protection Agency. Aquatic Life Benchmarks and Ecological Risk Assessments for Registered Pesticides. https://www.epa.gov/pesticide-science-and-assessing-pesticide-risks/aquatic-lifebenchmarks-and-ecological-risk, 7.04.2020
- [45] Hamilton, D. J., Ambrus, A., Dieterle, R. M. *et al.* Regulatory limits for pesticide residues in water (IUPAC Technical Report). *Pure and Applied Chemistry*, 2003, 75(8), 1123–1155.
- [46] Duke. S. O., Powles. S. B. Glyphosate: a once-in-a-century herbicide. *Pest Mana-gement Science*, 2008, 64(4), 319–325.
- [47] Székács, A., Darvas B. Re-registration Challenges of Glyphosate in the European Union. *Frontiers in Environmental Science*, 2018, 6, 1–35.
- [48] Tu, M., Hurd, C., Randall, J. M. Weed Control Methods Handbook: Tools and Techniques for Use in Natural Areas. https://digitalcommons.usu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article= 1532&context=govdocs, 7.04.2020
- [49] Piriyapittaya, M., Jayanta, S., Mitra, S., Leepipatpiboon, N. Micro-scale membrane extraction of glyphosate and aminomethylphosphonic acid in water followed by high-performance liquid chromatography and post-column derivatization with fluorescence detector. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 2008, 1189(1–2), 483–492.

- [50] World Health Orgnization. Glyphosate. http://www.inchem.org/documents/ehc/ehc159.htm#SectionNumber:2.2, 7.04.2020
- [51] Relyea, R. A. The Impact of Insecticides and Herbicides on the Biodiversity and Productivity of Aquatic Communities. *Ecological Applications*, 2005, 15(2), 618–627.
- [52] Koller, V. J., Fürhacker, M., Nersesyan, A., Mišík, M., Eisenbauer, M., Knasmueller, S. Cytotoxic and DNA-damaging properties of glyphosate and Roundup in human-derived buccal epithelial cells. *Archives of Toxicology*, 2012, 86(5), 805–813.
- [53] Thomson, D. G. Ecological Impacts of Major Forest-Use Pesticides. In: *Ecological Impacts of Toxic Chemicals*. pp: 88-110. Bentham Science Publishers Ltd, 2011.
- [54] Mesnage, R., Bernay, B., Séralini, G. E. Ethoxylated adjuvants of glyphosatebased herbicides are active principles of human cell toxicity. *Toxicology*, 2013, 313(2–3), 122–128.
- [55] US National Library of Medicine. Glyphosate. https://pubchem.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/compound/Glyphosate, 7.04.2020
- [56] Schuette, J. Environmental Fate of Glyphosate. https://docplayer.net/11240512-Environmental-fate-of-glyphosate-jeff-schuette.html, 7.04.2020
- [57] Henderson, A. M., Gervais, J. A., Luukinen, B. *et al.* Glyphosate technical fact sheet. National Pesticide Information Center, Oregon State University Extension Services http://npic.orst.edu/factsheets/archive/glyphotech.html, 7.04.2020
- [58] US Environmental Protection Agency. Reregistration Eligibility Decision (RED): Glyphosate. https://www3.epa.gov/pesticides/chem_search/reg_actions/reregistration/red_PC-417300 1-Sep-93.pdf, 7.04.2020
- [59] Okada, E., Costa, J. L., Bedmar, F. Glyphosate Dissipation in Different Soils Under No-Till and Conventional Tillage. *Pedosphere*, 2019, 29(6), 773–783.
- [60] Giesy, J. P., Stuart, D., Solomon, K. R. Ecotoxicological Risk Assessment for Roundup® Herbicide. In: *Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology*. pp: 35-120. New York: Springer, 2000.
- [61] Laitinen, P., Siimes, K., Eronen, L. *et al.* Fate of the herbicides glyphosate, glufosinate-ammonium, phenmedipham, ethofumesate and metamitron in two Finnish arable soils. *Pest Management Science*, 2006, 62(6), 473–491.
- [62] Van Bruggen, A. H. C., He, M. M., Shin, K. *et al.* Environmental and health effects of the herbicide glyphosate. *Science of The Total Environment*, 2018, 616–617, 255–268.
- [63] Monaco, T. J., Weller, S. C., Ashton, F. M. *Weed Science: Principles and Practices.* pp: 326-333. New York: John Wiley & Sons Inc, 2002.
- [64] Franz, J. E., Mao, M. K., Sikorski, J. A. *Glyphosate: a unique global herbicide*, American Chemical Society, 1997.
- [65] Guyton, K. Z., Loomis, D., Grosse, Y. *et al.* Carcinogenicity of tetrachlorvinphos, parathion, malathion, diazinon, and glyphosate. *The Lancet Oncology*, 2015, 16(5), 490–491.
- [66] Glyphosate: EFSA updates toxicological profile. http://www.efsa.europa.eu/en/press/news/151112, 7.04.2020
- [67] Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, World Health Organization. Pesticide residues in food 2016. Joint FAO/WHO Meeting on Pesticide Residues. http://www.fao.org/3/a-i5693e.pdf, 7.04.2020

- [68] Luijendijk, C. D., Beltman, W. H. J., Wolters, M. F. Measures to reduce glyphosate runoff from hard surfaces. https://www.wur.nl/upload_mm/e/7/4/fdd5a7e9-5d44-4063-876f-0d3bc34339cc_Measurestoreducerunoff.pdf, 7.04.2020
- [69] Royer, A., Beguin, S., Tabet, J. C., Hulot, S., Reding, M. A., Communal, P. Y. Determination of Glyphosate and Aminomethylphosphonic Acid Residues in Water by Gas Chromatography with Tandem Mass Spectrometry after Exchange Ion Resin Purification and Derivatization. Application on Vegetable Matrixes. *Analytical Chemistry*, 2000, 72(16), 3826–3832.
- [70] Stalikas, C. D., Konidari, C. N. Analytical methods to determine phosphonic and amino acid group-containing pesticides. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 2001, 907(1–2), 1–19.
- [71] Alexa, E., Häfner, M., Negrea, M., Lazureanu, A. HPLC and GC Determination of Glyphosate and Aminomethylphosphonic Acid (AMPA) in Water Samples. 43rd Croatian and 3rd International Symposium on Agriculture Opatija, 2008, 100–105.
- [72] Wang, Y., Shen, L., Gong, Z., Pan, J., Zheng, X., Xue, J. Analytical methods to analyze pesticides and herbicides. *Water Environment Research*, 2019, 91(10), 1009–1024.
- [73] ISO Standards. https://www.iso.org/obp/ui/#home, 7.04.2020
- [74] Analytical Methods and Procedures for Pesticides. https://www.epa.gov/pesticideanalytical-methods, 7.04.2020
- [75] US Environmental Protection Agency. EPA Method 632: The Determination of Carbamate and Urea Pesticides in Municipal and Industrial Wastewater. https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-10/documents/method_632_1992.pdf, 7.04.2020.
- [76] US Environmental Protection Agency. EPA Method MRID 45116202: The Determination of Carbamate in Surface and Ground water. https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2014-12/documents/45116202carbaryl-ecm-water.pdf, 7.04.2020
- [77] International Organization for Standardization. ISO 16308:2014. Water quality Determination of glyphosate and AMPA - Method using high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) with tandem mass spectrometric detection. https://www.iso.org/obp/ui/#iso:std:iso:16308:ed-1:v1:en, 7.04.2020
- [78] International Organization for Standardization. ISO 21458:2008. Water quality Determination of glyphosate and AMPA - Method using high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and fluorometric detection. https://www.iso.org/obp/ui/#iso:std:iso:21458:ed-1:v1:en, 7.04.2020
- [79] US Environmental Protection Agency. EPA Method MRID 40881601: Analytical Residue Method for N-Phosphonomethyl Glycine and Aminomethylphosphonic Acid in Environmental Water. https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2018-06/documents/40881601-glyphosate-ecm-water.pdf, 7.04.2020.
- [80] Marvin, C. H., Brindle, I. D. Development of an automated high-performance liquid chromatographic method for the on-line pre-concentration and determination of trace concentrations of pesticides in drinking water. *Journal of Chromatograph*, 1990, 503, 167–176.
- [81] Zheng, J., Zhang, H., Qu, J., Zhu, Q., Chen, X. Visual detection of glyphosate in environmental water samples using cysteamine-stabilized gold nanoparticles as colorimetric probe. *Analytical Methods*, 2013, 5(4), 917–924.

- [82] Bhaskara, B., Nagaraja, P. Direct Sensitive Spectrophotometric Determination of Glyphosate by Using Ninhydrin as a Chromogenic Reagent in Formulations and Environmental Water Samples. *HCA Healthcare Journal of Medicine*, 2006, 89(11), 2686–2693.
- [83] Glass, R. L. Colorimetric determination of glyphosate in water after oxidation to orthophosphate. *Analytical Chemistry*, 1981, 53(6), 921–923.
- [84] Cikalo, M. G., Goodall, D. M., Matthews, W. Analysis of glyphosate using capillary electrophoresis with indirect detection. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 1996, 745(1–2), 189–200.
- [85] Tomita, M., Okuyama, T., Nigo, Y., Uno, B., Kawai, S. Determination of glyphosate and its metabolite, (aminomethyl)phosphonic acid, in serum using capillary electrophoresis. *Journal of Chromatography B: Biomedical Sciences and Applications*, 1991, 571(1–2), 324–330.
- [86] Silva, E. R., Segato, T. P., Coltro, Wendell, K. T., Lima, R. S., Carrilho, E., Mazo, L. H. Determination of glyphosate and AMPA on polyester-toner electrophoresis microchip with contactless conductivity detection. *Electrophoresis*, 2013, 34(14), 2107–2111.
- [87] Lee, M. G., Patil, V., Na, Y. C., Lee, D. S., Lim, S. H., Yi, G. R. Highly stable, rapid colorimetric detection of carbaryl pesticides by azo coupling reaction with chemical pre-treatment. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemica*, 2018, 261, 489–496.
- [88] Chiu, H. Y., Lin, Z. Y., Tu, H. L., Whang, C. W. Analysis of glyphosate and aminomethylphosphonic acid by capillary electrophoresis with electrochemiluminescence detection. *Journal of Chromatography*, 2008, 1177(1), 195–198.
- [89] Brena, B. M., Arellano, L., Rufo, C. *et al.* ELISA as an Affordable Methodology for Monitoring Groundwater Contamination by Pesticides in Low-Income Countries. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 2005, 39(11), 3896–3903.
- [90] Cui, X., Jin, M., Du, P. *et al.* Development of immunoassays for multi-residue detection of small molecule compounds. *Food and Agricultural Immunology*, 2018, 29(1), 638–652.
- [91] Abad, A., Montoya, A. Development of an Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay to Carbaryl. 2. Assay Optimization and Application to the Analysis of Water Samples. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 1997, 45(4), 1495–1501.
- [92] Rubio, F., Veldhuis, L. J., Clegg, B. S., Fleeker, J. R., Hall, J. C. Comparison of a Direct ELISA and an HPLC Method for Glyphosate Determinations in Water. *Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry*, 2002, 51(3), 691–696.
- [93] Gonzalez-Martinez, M., Brun, E., Puchades, R., Maquieira, A., Ramsey, K., Rubio, F. Glyphosate Immunosensor. Application for Water and Soil Analysis. *Analytical Chemistry*, 2005, 77(13), 4219–4227.
- [94] Clegg, B. S., Stephenson, G. R., Hall, J. C. Development of an Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay for the Detection of Glyphosate. *Journal of Agricultural* and Food Chemistry, 1999, 47(12), 5031–5037.
- [95] Lee, E. A., Zimmerman, L. R., Bhullar, B. S, Thurman, E. M. Linker-Assisted Immunoassay and Liquid Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry for the Analysis of Glyphosate. *Analytical Chemistry*, 2002, 74(19), 4937–4943.
- [96] Glyphosate ELISA, Microtiter Plate. Eurofins Abraxis. https://abraxis.eurofins-technologies.com/media/6350/glyphosate-plate-insertr110419.pdf, 7.04.2020
- [97] Kylin, H. Time-integrated sampling of glyphosate in natural waters. *Chemosphere*, 2013, 90(6), 1821–1828.

- [98] Hanke, I., Singer, H., Hollender, J. Ultratrace-level determination of glyphosate, aminomethylphosphonic acid and glyphosinate in natural waters by solid-phase extraction followed by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry: perfomance tuning of derivatization, enrichment and detection. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 2008, 391(6), 2265–2276.
- [99] Küsters, M., Gerhartz, M. Enrichment and low-level determination of glyphosate, aminomethylphosphonic acid and glufosinate in drinking water after cleanup by cation exchange resin. *Journal of Separation Science*, 2010, 33(8), 1139–1146.
- [100] Ibánez, M., Pozo, Ó. J., Sancho, J. V., López, F. J., Hernández, F. Residue determination of glyphosate, glufosinate and aminomethylphosphonic acid in water and soil samples by liquid chromatography coupled to electrospray tandem mass spectrometry. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 2005, 1081(2), 145–155.
- [101] Hsu, C. C., Whang, C. W. Microscale solid phase extraction of glyphosate and aminomethylphosphonic acid in water and guava fruit extract using aluminacoated iron oxide nanoparticles followed by capillary electrophoresis and electrochemiluminescence detection. *Journal of Chromatography A*, 2009, 1216(49), 8575–8580.
- [102] Morales, M. A., Halpern, J. M. Guide to Selecting a Biorecognition Element for Biosensors. *Bioconjucate Chemistry*, 2018, 29(10), 3231–3239.
- [103] Gonzléz-Martínez, M. A., Puchades, R., Maquieira, A. On-line immunoanalysis for environmental pollutants: from batch assays to automated sensors. *Trends in Analytical Chemistry*, 1999, 18(3), 204–218.
- [104] Jiang, X., Li, D., Xu, X. et al. Immunosensors for detection of pesticide residues. Biosensors and Bioelectronics, 2008, 23(11), 1577–1587.
- [105] Mauriz, E., Calle, A., Abad, A. *et al.* Determination of carbaryl in natural water samples by a surface plasmon resonance flow-through immunosensor. *Bio*sensors and Bioelectronics, 2006, 21(11), 2129–2136.
- [106] Fernández-Benavides, D. A., Cervera-Chiner, L., Jiménez, Y., de Fuentes, O. A., Montoya, A., Munoz-Saldana, J. A novel bismuth-based lead-free piezoelectric transducer immunosensor for carbaryl quantification. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 2019, 285, 423–430.
- [107] Narbon, G. J. V., Rocha, M. I., March, C. *et al.* Love Mode Surface Acoustic Wave and High Fundamental Frequency Quartz Crystal Microbalance Immunosensors for the Detection of Carbaryl Pesticide. *Procedia Engineering*, 2014, 87, 759–762.
- [108] Lee, H. U., Shin, H. Y., Lee, J. Y., Song, Y. S, Park, C., Kim, S.W. Quantitative Detection of Glyphosate by Simultaneous Analysis of UV Spectroscopy and Fluorescence Using DNA-Labeled Gold Nanoparticles. *Journal of Agricultural* and Food Chemistry, 2010, 58(23), 12096–12100.
- [109] Lee, H. U., Jung, D. U., Lee, J. H., Song, Y. S., Park, C., Kim, S.W. Detection of glyphosate by quantitative analysis of fluorescence and single DNA using DNAlabeled fluorescent magnetic core-shell nanoparticles. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 2013, 177, 879–886.
- [110] Wang, D., Lin, B., Cao, Y., Guo, M., Yu, Y. A Highly Selective and Sensitive Fluorescence Detection Method of Glyphosate Based on an Immune Reaction Strategy of Carbon Dot Labeled Antibody and Antigen Magnetic Beads. *Journal* of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 2016, 64(30), 6042–6050.

- [111] Ding, X., Yang, K. L. Development of an Oligopeptide Functionalized Surface Plasmon Resonance Biosensor for Online Detection of Glyphosate. *Analytical Chemistry*, 2013, 85(12), 5727–5733.
- [112] Amine, A., Mohammadi, H., Bourais, I., Palleschi G. Enzyme inhibition-based biosensors for food safety and environmental monitoring. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, 2006, 21(8), 1405–1423.
- [113] Li, Y., Shi, L., Han, G., Xiao, Y., Zhou, W. Electrochemical biosensing of carbaryl based on acetylcholinesterase immobilized onto electrochemically inducing porous graphene oxide network. *Sensors and Actuators B: Chemical*, 2017, 238, 945–953.
- [114] Liu, Q., Fei, A., Huan, J., Mao, H., Wang, K. Effective amperometric biosensor for carbaryl detection based on covalent immobilization acetylcholinesterase on multiwall carbon nanotubes/graphene oxide nanoribbons nanostructure. *Journal* of Electroanalytical Chemistry, 2015, 740, 8–13.
- [115] Du, D., Ding, J., Cai, J., Zhang, A. Determination of carbaryl pesticide using amperometric acetylcholinesterase sensor formed by electrochemically deposited chitosan. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 2007, 58(2), 145–150.
- [116] La Rosa, C., Pariente, F., Hernández, L., Lorenzo, E. Amperometric flowthrough biosensor for the determination of pesticides. *Analytica Chimica Acta*, 1995, 308(1–3), 129–136.
- [117] Ribas, J., Bragos, R., Marty, J. L., Montesinos, T., Lacorte, S., Tresanchez, M. Portable biosensor system for pesticide concentration measurements. In: *BIO-SET: Final report*. pp 21–23, Barcelona, 2000.
- [118] Skládal, P., Pavlík, M., Fiala, M. Pesticide Biosensor Based on Coimmobilized Acetylcholinesterase and Butyrylcholinesterase. *Analytical Letters*, 1994, 27(1), 29–40.
- [119] Xavier, M. P., Vallejo, B., Marazuela, M. D., Moreno-Bondi, M. C., Baldini, F., Falai, A. Fiber optic monitoring of carbamate pesticides using porous glass with covalently bound chlorophenol red. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, 2000, 14(12), 895–905.
- [120] Songa, E., Waryo, T., Jahed, N., Baker, P., Kgarebe, B., Iwuoha, E. Electrochemical Nanobiosensor for Glyphosate Herbicide and Its Metabolite. *Electroanalysis*, 2009, 21(3–5), 671–674.
- [121] Songa, E. A., Arotiba, O. A., Owino, J. H. O., Jahed, N., Baker, P. G. L., Iwuoha, E. I. Electrochemical detection of glyphosate herbicide using horseradish peroxidase immobilized on sulfonated polymer matrix. *Bioelectrochemistry*, 2009, 75(29), 117–123.
- [122] Shim, J., Woo, J. J, Moon, S. H., Kim, G. Y. A preparation of a single-layered enzyme-membrane using asymmetric pBPPO base film for development of pesticide detecting biosensor. *Journal of Membrane Science*, 2009, 330(1), 341–348.
- [123] Veiksina, S., Kopanchuk, S., Rinken, A. Fluorescence anisotropy assay for pharmacological characterization of ligand binding dynamics to melanocortin 4 receptors. *Analytical Biochemistry*, 2010, 402(1), 32–39.
- [124] Rinken, T., Tenno, T. Dynamic model of amperometric biosensors. Characterisation of glucose biosensor output. *Biosensors and Bioelectronics*, 2001, 16(1–2), 53–59.
- [125] Peedel, D., Rinken, T. Rapid biosensing of Staphylococcus aureus bacteria in milk. Analytical Methods, 2014, 6(8), 2642–2647.

- [126] Juronen, D., Kuusk, A., Kivirand, K., Rinken, A., Rinken, T. Immunosensing system for rapid multiplex detection of mastitis-causing pathogens in milk. *Talanta*, 2018, 178, 949–954.
- [127] Kuusk, E. Karbarüüli määramine türosinaasil põhineva biosensoriga. Magistritöö. Tartu Ülikool, 2003.
- [128] Greenberg, A. E., Trussell, R. R., Clesceri, L. S. Standard method for the examination of water and wastewater. Washington DC: American Public Health Association, 1985.
- [129] Ramsden, C. A., Riley, P. A. Tyrosinase: The four oxidation states of the active site and their relevance to enzymatic activation, oxidation and inactivation. *Bioorganic & Medicinal Chemistry*, 2014, 22(8), 2388–2395.
- [130] World Health Organization. Carbaryl. https://www.who.int/water_sanitation_health/dwq/chemicals/carbarylsum_2ndad d.pdf, 7.04.2020
- [131] Kuusk, E. Türosinaasi iseloomustamine. Võimalused pestitsiidide määramiseks biosensoriga. Bakalaureusetöö. Tartu Ülikool, 2001.
- [132] Viirlaid, E., Riiberg, R., Mäeorg, U., Rinken, T. Glyphosate Attachment on Aminoactivated Microbeads for Sample Stabilization and Concentration. In: 20th International Scientific Conference EcoBalt. Book of Abstracts. p. 94. Tartu, 2016.

http://analitykamedyczna.pl/sites/analitykamedyczna.pl/files/abstract-book-ecobalt-2016_1.pdf, 7.04.2020

SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN

Biosensorsüsteemid pestitsiidide määramiseks veeproovides

Pestitsiidid on ained, mida kasutatakse peamiselt põllumajanduses, aga ka muudes sektorites kahjurite (putukad, taimehaigused, umbrohud jne) tõrjeks [1,2]. Ülemaailmne pestitsiidide kasutamine kasvab pidevalt: 2017. aastal müüdi kogu maailmas kokku umbes 3.6 miljonit tonni pestitsiide [2,3]. Enamik kasutatud pestitsiide võivad reostada vett ja pinnast ning avaldada kahjulikku mõju elusorganismidele [4]. Võimalike ohtude kõrvaldamiseks elusorganismidele on enamiku pestitsiidide jaoks kehtestatud joogi- ja pinnavees lubatud sisaldused. Euroopa Liidus on näiteks iga üksiku pestitsiidi lubatud piirsisaldus joogivees $0.1 \ \mu g/l$ [5]. Pestitsiidide määramiseks veeproovidest kasutatakse käesoleval ajal peamiselt kromatograafilisi meetoditeid, rakendades UV-Vis, fluorestsentsja/või massispektromeetrilisi detektoreid. Nende meetoditega saavutatakse küll madalad määramispiirid, kuid need on keerukad ja aeganõudvad ega sobi *in situ* ja on-line monitooringuks [6]. Kromatograafiliste meetodite kõrval on üheks alternatiiviks biosensorite kasutamine. Biosensorid võimaldavad kiiremaid, odavamaid ning reaalajas kohapeal läbiviidavaid analüüse.

Käesoleva doktoritöö eesmärgiks oligi välja töötada biosensorsüsteemid kahe erineva probleemse pestitsiidi – karbarüüli ja glüfosaadi määramiseks veeproovidest, mis võimaldaks nende ühendite kiiret kohapealset määramist. Lisaks uuriti võimalusi glüfosaadi eelkontsentreerimiseks ja stabiliseerimiseks veeproovides, mida on võimalik kasutada koos biosensoritel põhineva glüfosaadi selektiivse detekteerimisega. Läbiviidud uuringute käigus töötati välja biosensorsüsteemid karbarüüli ja glüfosaadi määramiseks. Biosensorisüsteemide konstrueerimisel uuriti nende tundlikkust, tööpiirkonda ja sobivust rakendamiseks looduslikus vees. Lisaks uuriti biosensorsüsteemis toimuvaid reaktsioonimehhanisme.

Karbarüüli biosensorsüsteem koosnes hapnikuandurist ja sellega kontaktis olevast ensüümist - türosinaasist. Karbarüüli määramine põhines türosinaasi inhibeerimisel karbarüüli poolt. Biosensori väljundvoolude analüüsimiseks kasutati biosensorite dünaamilist mudelit, mis võimaldas tasakaalueelse oleku andmetest erinevate reaktsiooni iseloomustavate parameetrite arvutamist. Karbarüüli poolt põhjustatud türosinaasi aktiivsuse muutuse põhjal leiti, et karbarüül käitub türosinaasi suhtes pigem inhibeeriva substraadina ja madalatel kontsentratsioonidel kiirendab türosinaasi poolt katalüüsitavat türosiini oksüdatsiooni lahustunud hapniku toimel. Biosensori dünaamilise mudeli alusel arvutatud kineetilise parameetri B sõltuvusel karbarüüli kontsentratsioonist on iseloomulik lame asümmeetriline maksimum ja reaktsioonimehhanism on analoogne mehhanismile, mis tavaliselt iseloomustab mittekonkurentset substraadi inhibitsiooni. Karbarüüli kontsentratsiooni määramiseks ei olnud kineetiline parameeter üksinda piisav ja seetõttu kasutati lisaks teist mudeli alusel arvutatud sõltumatut parameetrit, statsionaarse oleku parameetrit A. Kahe parameetri kombineeritud kasutamine võimaldas biosensoriga määrata karbarüüli kontsentratsiooni vahemikus 0.1–20 mg/l. Karbarüüli määramispiiriks saadi 0.2 mg/l [I]. Läbi viidi ka eelkatsed karbarüüli määramise võimaluste uurimiseks riivitud kartulimassis.

Glüfosaadi biosensor põhines konkureerival immunoanalüüsil ja selle määramiseks kasutati antigeen/antikeha bioäratundmissüsteemi kombineerituna graanulsisestusanalüüsiga. Esmalt koguti glüfosaat mikrograanulitele, mille pinnale olid immobiliseeritud glüfosaadi vastased antikehad. Seejärel asendati graanulile seondunud glüfosaat fluorestsentsmärgisega glüfosaadiga, ning mõõdeti selle fluorestsentsintensiivsust. Glüfosaadi määramispiiriks saadi 406±17 mg/l, mis on piisav glüfosaadireostuse *in situ* tuvastamiseks enne glüfosaadi lahjenemist ja lagunemist [II]. Kõrge määramispiiri määras glüfosaadi suhteliselt madal afiinsus glüfosaadi vastaste antikehade suhtes, mida hinnati fluorestsents anisotroopia meetodiga. Väljatöötatud biosensori eelis on see, et analüüsi saab läbi viia ilma proovi eeltöötlemisetapita ja analüüsitulemused saadakse umbes poole tunniga. Meetodi valideerimine näitas, et glüfosaadi määramistulemused pinnaveeproovidest on korrelatsioonis HPLC meetodiga saadud tulemustega [II].

Glüfosaadi biosensori tundlikkuse parandamiseks ja analüüside usaldusväärsuse suurendamiseks uuriti glüfosaadi proovide stabiliseerimise ja kontsentreerimise võimalusi, mida oleks võimalik integreerida glüfosaadi biosensoriga reaalajas ja kohapeal läbiviidavaks seireks. Glüfosaadi sidumiseks kasutati kahte erinevat tüüpi aminoaktiveeritud mikrograanuleid – ränidioksiidi mikroosakesi (ASB) ja magnetilisi raudoksiidi nanoosakesi (AFeNP). Glüfosaadi immobiliseerimine aminoaktiveeritud osakestele viidi läbi kasutades EDC/NHS keemiat. Kogu immobiliseerimisetapp võttis aega ligikaudu 20 minutit [III]. Võrreldes ASB ja AFeNP osakeste kasutamist võib väita, et kokkuvõttes on raudoksiidi nanoosakeste kasutamine tõhusam tänu eelkõige kiirele ja lihtsale osakeste eraldamisele magneti abil. Uuriti ka glüfosaadi-AFeNP komplekside stabiilsust ja leiti, et need kompleksid on toatemperatuuril ja pH 7.0 juures stabiilsed vähemalt ühe nädala, mis võimaldab vajadusel ka proovide transporti ja hilisemat analüüsi [132].

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my very great gratitude to my supervisor Dr. Toonika Rinken for her valuable and constructive suggestions during the planning and development of this research work.

I would also like to extend my thanks to various people for their contribution to this work: Dr. Mihkel Ilisson, Dr. Sergei Kopanchuk, Prof. Ago Rinken, Prof. Uno Mäeorg and MSc Riin Riiberg.

My special thanks to Greenbead OÜ who helped to modify magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles and to Dr. Riin Rebane from Estonian Environmental Research Centre for her contribution to the validation of biosensor results.

I also wish to thank colleagues at the laboratory of the biosensors, at the Chair of Colloid and Environmental Chemistry at the University of Tartu, especially Dr. Kairi Kivirand and Dr. Delia Juronen.

The financial support from the Estonian Science Foundation grant no 5289, grant no 9061, Estonian Research Council grant IUT 20-17 and Estonian Centre of excellence "Mesosystems–Theory and Applications" and from the graduate school "Functional Materials and Technologies" receiving funding from the European Social Fund (Project 1.2.0401.09-0079).

PUBLICATIONS

CURRICULUM VITAE

Name:	Edith Viirlaid (Kuusk)
Date of birth:	October 9, 1977
Citizenship:	Estonian
Marital status	: Married
Address:	Institute of Chemistry, Ravila 14a, 50411, Tartu, Estonia
Phone:	+372 525 9893
E-mail:	edith.viirlaid@ut.ee

Education

2010	University of Tartu, PhD student (Chemistry)
2001-2003	University of Tartu, MSc (Chemistry)
1996–2001	University of Tartu, BSc (Chemistry)

Professional employment

2013–	University of Tartu, Institute of Chemistry, Assistant in
	Colloidal and Environmental Chemistry
2003-2010	AS Estiko Plastar, Product control specialist-technologist

Main scientific publications

- Viirlaid, E., Ilisson, M., Kopanchuk, S., Mäeorg, U., Rinken, A., Rinken, T. Immunoassay for rapid on-site detection of glyphosate herbicide. *Environmental Monitoring and Assessment*, 2019, 191(507), 1–12.
- Viirlaid, E., Riiberg, R., Mäeorg, U., Rinken, T. Glyphosate attachment on aminoactivated carriers for sample stabilization and concentration. Agronomy Research, 2015, 13(4), 1152–1159.
- Kuusk, E., Rinken, T. Transient phase calibration of tyrosinase-based carbaryl biosensor. *Ezyme and Microbial Technology*, 2004, 34(7), 657–661.
- Saal, K., Sammelselg, V., Lõhmus, A., Kuusk, E., Raidaru, G., Rinken, T., Rinken, A. Characterization of glucose oxidase immobilization onto mica carrier by atomic force microscopy and kinetic studies. *Biomolecular Engineering*, 2002, 19, 195–199.
- Saal, K., Lõhmus, A., Lõhmus, R., Kuusk, E., Raidaru, G., Rinken, A., Sammelselg, V., Rinken, T. AFM characterization of enzyme immobilization onto glass and mica – Problems and perspectives. *Physics of Low-Dimensional Structures*, 2001, 3(4), 151–157.
- Saal, K., Sammelselg, V., Lõhmus, A., Kuusk, E., Kopanchuk, S., Raidaru, G., Rinken, A., Rinken, T. Characterization of glucose oxidase immobilization on surface of mica by atomic force microscopy and kinetic studies. *Mikrosistemnaya Tekhnika*, 2001, 12, 30–33 (in russian).

ELULOOKIRJELDUS

Nimi:	Edith Viirlaid (Kuusk)
Sünniaeg:	9. oktoober 1977
Kodakondsus:	Eesti
Perekonnaseis:	Abielus
Aadress:	Keemia Instituut, Ravila 14a, 50411, Tartu, Eesti
Telefon:	+372 525 9893
E-post:	edith.viirlaid@ut.ee

Haridus

2010–	Tartu Ülikool, doktoriõpe (Keemia)
2001-2003	Tartu Ülikool, MSc (Keemia)
1996–2001	Tartu Ülikool, BSc (Keemia)

Erialane töökogemus

- 2013–... Tartu Ülikool, Keemia Instituut, Kolloid- ja keskkonnakeemia assistent
- 2003–2010 AS Estiko Plastar tootekontrolli spetsialist-tehnoloog

Tähtsamad teaduspublikatsioonid

- Viirlaid, E., Ilisson, M., Kopanchuk, S., Mäeorg, U., Rinken, A., Rinken, T. Immunoassay for rapid on-site detection of glyphosate herbicide. *Environmnetal Monitoring and Assessment*, 2019, 191(507), 1–12.
- Viirlaid, E., Riiberg, R., Mäeorg, U., Rinken, T. Glyphosate attachment on aminoactivated carriers for sample stabilization and concentration. *Agrono*my Research, 2015, 13(4), 1152–1159.
- Kuusk, E., Rinken, T. Transient phase calibration of tyrosinase-based carbaryl biosensor. *Ezyme and Microbial Technology*, 2004, 34(7), 657–661.
- Saal, K., Sammelselg, V., Lõhmus, A., Kuusk, E., Raidaru, G., Rinken, T., Rinken, A. Characterization of glucose oxidase immobilization onto mica carrier by atomic force microscopy and kinetic studies. *Biomolecular En*gineering, 2002, 19, 195–199.
- Saal, K., Lõhmus, A., Lõhmus, R., Kuusk, E., Raidaru, G., Rinken, A., Sammelselg, V., Rinken, T. AFM characterization of enzyme immobilization onto glass and mica – Problems and perspectives. *Physics of Low-Dimensional Structures*, 2001, 3(4), 151–157.
- Saal, K., Sammelselg, V., Lõhmus, A., Kuusk, E., Kopanchuk, S., Raidaru, G., Rinken, A., Rinken, T. Characterization of glucose oxidase immobilization on surface of mica by atomic force microscopy and kinetic studies. *Mikrosistemnaya Tekhnika*, 2001, 12, 30–33 (in russian).

DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

- 1. **Toomas Tamm.** Quantum-chemical simulation of solvent effects. Tartu, 1993, 110 p.
- 2. **Peeter Burk.** Theoretical study of gas-phase acid-base equilibria. Tartu, 1994, 96 p.
- 3. Victor Lobanov. Quantitative structure-property relationships in large descriptor spaces. Tartu, 1995, 135 p.
- 4. Vahur Mäemets. The ¹⁷O and ¹H nuclear magnetic resonance study of H₂O in individual solvents and its charged clusters in aqueous solutions of electrolytes. Tartu, 1997, 140 p.
- 5. Andrus Metsala. Microcanonical rate constant in nonequilibrium distribution of vibrational energy and in restricted intramolecular vibrational energy redistribution on the basis of slater's theory of unimolecular reactions. Tartu, 1997, 150 p.
- 6. Uko Maran. Quantum-mechanical study of potential energy surfaces in different environments. Tartu, 1997, 137 p.
- 7. Alar Jänes. Adsorption of organic compounds on antimony, bismuth and cadmium electrodes. Tartu, 1998, 219 p.
- 8. **Kaido Tammeveski.** Oxygen electroreduction on thin platinum films and the electrochemical detection of superoxide anion. Tartu, 1998, 139 p.
- 9. Ivo Leito. Studies of Brønsted acid-base equilibria in water and nonaqueous media. Tartu, 1998, 101 p.
- 10. **Jaan Leis.** Conformational dynamics and equilibria in amides. Tartu, 1998, 131 p.
- 11. **Toonika Rinken.** The modelling of amperometric biosensors based on oxidoreductases. Tartu, 2000, 108 p.
- 12. Dmitri Panov. Partially solvated Grignard reagents. Tartu, 2000, 64 p.
- 13. Kaja Orupõld. Treatment and analysis of phenolic wastewater with microorganisms. Tartu, 2000, 123 p.
- 14. Jüri Ivask. Ion Chromatographic determination of major anions and cations in polar ice core. Tartu, 2000, 85 p.
- 15. Lauri Vares. Stereoselective Synthesis of Tetrahydrofuran and Tetrahydropyran Derivatives by Use of Asymmetric Horner-Wadsworth-Emmons and Ring Closure Reactions. Tartu, 2000, 184 p.
- 16. **Martin Lepiku.** Kinetic aspects of dopamine D₂ receptor interactions with specific ligands. Tartu, 2000, 81 p.
- 17. **Katrin Sak.** Some aspects of ligand specificity of P2Y receptors. Tartu, 2000, 106 p.
- 18. **Vello Pällin.** The role of solvation in the formation of iotsitch complexes. Tartu, 2001, 95 p.
- 19. Katrin Kollist. Interactions between polycyclic aromatic compounds and humic substances. Tartu, 2001, 93 p.

- 20. **Ivar Koppel.** Quantum chemical study of acidity of strong and superstrong Brønsted acids. Tartu, 2001, 104 p.
- 21. Viljar Pihl. The study of the substituent and solvent effects on the acidity of OH and CH acids. Tartu, 2001, 132 p.
- 22. **Natalia Palm.** Specification of the minimum, sufficient and significant set of descriptors for general description of solvent effects. Tartu, 2001, 134 p.
- 23. Sulev Sild. QSPR/QSAR approaches for complex molecular systems. Tartu, 2001, 134 p.
- 24. **Ruslan Petrukhin.** Industrial applications of the quantitative structureproperty relationships. Tartu, 2001, 162 p.
- 25. **Boris V. Rogovoy.** Synthesis of (benzotriazolyl)carboximidamides and their application in relations with *N* and *S*-nucleophyles. Tartu, 2002, 84 p.
- 26. Koit Herodes. Solvent effects on UV-vis absorption spectra of some solvatochromic substances in binary solvent mixtures: the preferential solvation model. Tartu, 2002, 102 p.
- 27. Anti Perkson. Synthesis and characterisation of nanostructured carbon. Tartu, 2002, 152 p.
- 28. **Ivari Kaljurand.** Self-consistent acidity scales of neutral and cationic Brønsted acids in acetonitrile and tetrahydrofuran. Tartu, 2003, 108 p.
- 29. Karmen Lust. Adsorption of anions on bismuth single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2003, 128 p.
- 30. **Mare Piirsalu.** Substituent, temperature and solvent effects on the alkaline hydrolysis of substituted phenyl and alkyl esters of benzoic acid. Tartu, 2003, 156 p.
- 31. Meeri Sassian. Reactions of partially solvated Grignard reagents. Tartu, 2003, 78 p.
- 32. **Tarmo Tamm.** Quantum chemical modelling of polypyrrole. Tartu, 2003. 100 p.
- 33. Erik Teinemaa. The environmental fate of the particulate matter and organic pollutants from an oil shale power plant. Tartu, 2003. 102 p.
- 34. Jaana Tammiku-Taul. Quantum chemical study of the properties of Grignard reagents. Tartu, 2003. 120 p.
- 35. Andre Lomaka. Biomedical applications of predictive computational chemistry. Tartu, 2003. 132 p.
- 36. Kostyantyn Kirichenko. Benzotriazole Mediated Carbon–Carbon Bond Formation. Tartu, 2003. 132 p.
- 37. **Gunnar Nurk.** Adsorption kinetics of some organic compounds on bismuth single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2003, 170 p.
- 38. **Mati Arulepp.** Electrochemical characteristics of porous carbon materials and electrical double layer capacitors. Tartu, 2003, 196 p.
- 39. **Dan Cornel Fara.** QSPR modeling of complexation and distribution of organic compounds. Tartu, 2004, 126 p.
- 40. **Riina Mahlapuu.** Signalling of galanin and amyloid precursor protein through adenylate cyclase. Tartu, 2004, 124 p.

- 41. **Mihkel Kerikmäe.** Some luminescent materials for dosimetric applications and physical research. Tartu, 2004, 143 p.
- 42. Jaanus Kruusma. Determination of some important trace metal ions in human blood. Tartu, 2004, 115 p.
- 43. Urmas Johanson. Investigations of the electrochemical properties of polypyrrole modified electrodes. Tartu, 2004, 91 p.
- 44. **Kaido Sillar.** Computational study of the acid sites in zeolite ZSM-5. Tartu, 2004, 80 p.
- 45. Aldo Oras. Kinetic aspects of dATP α S interaction with P2Y₁ receptor. Tartu, 2004, 75 p.
- 46. Erik Mölder. Measurement of the oxygen mass transfer through the airwater interface. Tartu, 2005, 73 p.
- 47. **Thomas Thomberg.** The kinetics of electroreduction of peroxodisulfate anion on cadmium (0001) single crystal electrode. Tartu, 2005, 95 p.
- 48. **Olavi Loog.** Aspects of condensations of carbonyl compounds and their imine analogues. Tartu, 2005, 83 p.
- 49. Siim Salmar. Effect of ultrasound on ester hydrolysis in aqueous ethanol. Tartu, 2006, 73 p.
- 50. Ain Uustare. Modulation of signal transduction of heptahelical receptors by other receptors and G proteins. Tartu, 2006, 121 p.
- 51. Sergei Yurchenko. Determination of some carcinogenic contaminants in food. Tartu, 2006, 143 p.
- 52. **Kaido Tämm.** QSPR modeling of some properties of organic compounds. Tartu, 2006, 67 p.
- 53. Olga Tšubrik. New methods in the synthesis of multisubstituted hydrazines. Tartu. 2006, 183 p.
- 54. Lilli Sooväli. Spectrophotometric measurements and their uncertainty in chemical analysis and dissociation constant measurements. Tartu, 2006, 125 p.
- 55. Eve Koort. Uncertainty estimation of potentiometrically measured ph and pK_a values. Tartu, 2006, 139 p.
- 56. Sergei Kopanchuk. Regulation of ligand binding to melanocortin receptor subtypes. Tartu, 2006, 119 p.
- 57. Silvar Kallip. Surface structure of some bismuth and antimony single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2006, 107 p.
- 58. **Kristjan Saal.** Surface silanization and its application in biomolecule coupling. Tartu, 2006, 77 p.
- 59. **Tanel Tätte.** High viscosity Sn(OBu)₄ oligomeric concentrates and their applications in technology. Tartu, 2006, 91 p.
- 60. **Dimitar Atanasov Dobchev**. Robust QSAR methods for the prediction of properties from molecular structure. Tartu, 2006, 118 p.
- 61. Hannes Hagu. Impact of ultrasound on hydrophobic interactions in solutions. Tartu, 2007, 81 p.
- 62. **Rutha Jäger.** Electroreduction of peroxodisulfate anion on bismuth electrodes. Tartu, 2007, 142 p.

- 63. **Kaido Viht.** Immobilizable bisubstrate-analogue inhibitors of basophilic protein kinases: development and application in biosensors. Tartu, 2007, 88 p.
- 64. Eva-Ingrid Rõõm. Acid-base equilibria in nonpolar media. Tartu, 2007, 156 p.
- 65. **Sven Tamp.** DFT study of the cesium cation containing complexes relevant to the cesium cation binding by the humic acids. Tartu, 2007, 102 p.
- 66. Jaak Nerut. Electroreduction of hexacyanoferrate(III) anion on Cadmium (0001) single crystal electrode. Tartu, 2007, 180 p.
- 67. Lauri Jalukse. Measurement uncertainty estimation in amperometric dissolved oxygen concentration measurement. Tartu, 2007, 112 p.
- 68. Aime Lust. Charge state of dopants and ordered clusters formation in CaF₂:Mn and CaF₂:Eu luminophors. Tartu, 2007, 100 p.
- 69. **Iiris Kahn**. Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationships of environmentally relevant properties. Tartu, 2007, 98 p.
- 70. **Mari Reinik.** Nitrates, nitrites, N-nitrosamines and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in food: analytical methods, occurrence and dietary intake. Tartu, 2007, 172 p.
- 71. **Heili Kasuk.** Thermodynamic parameters and adsorption kinetics of organic compounds forming the compact adsorption layer at Bi single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2007, 212 p.
- 72. Erki Enkvist. Synthesis of adenosine-peptide conjugates for biological applications. Tartu, 2007, 114 p.
- 73. **Svetoslav Hristov Slavov**. Biomedical applications of the QSAR approach. Tartu, 2007, 146 p.
- 74. Eneli Härk. Electroreduction of complex cations on electrochemically polished Bi(*hkl*) single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2008, 158 p.
- 75. **Priit Möller.** Electrochemical characteristics of some cathodes for medium temperature solid oxide fuel cells, synthesized by solid state reaction technique. Tartu, 2008, 90 p.
- 76. **Signe Viggor.** Impact of biochemical parameters of genetically different pseudomonads at the degradation of phenolic compounds. Tartu, 2008, 122 p.
- 77. Ave Sarapuu. Electrochemical reduction of oxygen on quinone-modified carbon electrodes and on thin films of platinum and gold. Tartu, 2008, 134 p.
- 78. Agnes Kütt. Studies of acid-base equilibria in non-aqueous media. Tartu, 2008, 198 p.
- 79. **Rouvim Kadis.** Evaluation of measurement uncertainty in analytical chemistry: related concepts and some points of misinterpretation. Tartu, 2008, 118 p.
- 80. Valter Reedo. Elaboration of IVB group metal oxide structures and their possible applications. Tartu, 2008, 98 p.
- 81. Aleksei Kuznetsov. Allosteric effects in reactions catalyzed by the cAMPdependent protein kinase catalytic subunit. Tartu, 2009, 133 p.

- 82. Aleksei Bredihhin. Use of mono- and polyanions in the synthesis of multisubstituted hydrazine derivatives. Tartu, 2009, 105 p.
- 83. Anu Ploom. Quantitative structure-reactivity analysis in organosilicon chemistry. Tartu, 2009, 99 p.
- Argo Vonk. Determination of adenosine A_{2A}- and dopamine D₁ receptorspecific modulation of adenylate cyclase activity in rat striatum. Tartu, 2009, 129 p.
- 85. **Indrek Kivi.** Synthesis and electrochemical characterization of porous cathode materials for intermediate temperature solid oxide fuel cells. Tartu, 2009, 177 p.
- 86. **Jaanus Eskusson.** Synthesis and characterisation of diamond-like carbon thin films prepared by pulsed laser deposition method. Tartu, 2009, 117 p.
- 87. **Marko Lätt.** Carbide derived microporous carbon and electrical double layer capacitors. Tartu, 2009, 107 p.
- 88. Vladimir Stepanov. Slow conformational changes in dopamine transporter interaction with its ligands. Tartu, 2009, 103 p.
- 89. Aleksander Trummal. Computational Study of Structural and Solvent Effects on Acidities of Some Brønsted Acids. Tartu, 2009, 103 p.
- 90. **Eerold Vellemäe.** Applications of mischmetal in organic synthesis. Tartu, 2009, 93 p.
- 91. **Sven Parkel.** Ligand binding to 5-HT_{1A} receptors and its regulation by Mg²⁺ and Mn²⁺. Tartu, 2010, 99 p.
- 92. **Signe Vahur.** Expanding the possibilities of ATR-FT-IR spectroscopy in determination of inorganic pigments. Tartu, 2010, 184 p.
- 93. **Tavo Romann**. Preparation and surface modification of bismuth thin film, porous, and microelectrodes. Tartu, 2010, 155 p.
- 94. Nadežda Aleksejeva. Electrocatalytic reduction of oxygen on carbon nanotube-based nanocomposite materials. Tartu, 2010, 147 p.
- 95. **Marko Kullapere.** Electrochemical properties of glassy carbon, nickel and gold electrodes modified with aryl groups. Tartu, 2010, 233 p.
- 96. Liis Siinor. Adsorption kinetics of ions at Bi single crystal planes from aqueous electrolyte solutions and room-temperature ionic liquids. Tartu, 2010, 101 p.
- 97. **Angela Vaasa.** Development of fluorescence-based kinetic and binding assays for characterization of protein kinases and their inhibitors. Tartu 2010, 101 p.
- 98. **Indrek Tulp.** Multivariate analysis of chemical and biological properties. Tartu 2010, 105 p.
- 99. **Aare Selberg.** Evaluation of environmental quality in Northern Estonia by the analysis of leachate. Tartu 2010, 117 p.
- 100. **Darja Lavõgina.** Development of protein kinase inhibitors based on adenosine analogue-oligoarginine conjugates. Tartu 2010, 248 p.
- 101. Laura Herm. Biochemistry of dopamine D_2 receptors and its association with motivated behaviour. Tartu 2010, 156 p.

- 102. **Terje Raudsepp.** Influence of dopant anions on the electrochemical properties of polypyrrole films. Tartu 2010, 112 p.
- 103. **Margus Marandi.** Electroformation of Polypyrrole Films: *In-situ* AFM and STM Study. Tartu 2011, 116 p.
- 104. **Kairi Kivirand.** Diamine oxidase-based biosensors: construction and working principles. Tartu, 2011, 140 p.
- 105. Anneli Kruve. Matrix effects in liquid-chromatography electrospray mass-spectrometry. Tartu, 2011, 156 p.
- 106. **Gary Urb.** Assessment of environmental impact of oil shale fly ash from PF and CFB combustion. Tartu, 2011, 108 p.
- 107. Nikita Oskolkov. A novel strategy for peptide-mediated cellular delivery and induction of endosomal escape. Tartu, 2011, 106 p.
- 108. **Dana Martin.** The QSPR/QSAR approach for the prediction of properties of fullerene derivatives. Tartu, 2011, 98 p.
- 109. Säde Viirlaid. Novel glutathione analogues and their antioxidant activity. Tartu, 2011, 106 p.
- 110. Ülis Sõukand. Simultaneous adsorption of Cd²⁺, Ni²⁺, and Pb²⁺ on peat. Tartu, 2011, 124 p.
- 111. Lauri Lipping. The acidity of strong and superstrong Brønsted acids, an outreach for the "limits of growth": a quantum chemical study. Tartu, 2011, 124 p.
- 112. **Heisi Kurig.** Electrical double-layer capacitors based on ionic liquids as electrolytes. Tartu, 2011, 146 p.
- 113. **Marje Kasari.** Bisubstrate luminescent probes, optical sensors and affinity adsorbents for measurement of active protein kinases in biological samples. Tartu, 2012, 126 p.
- 114. Kalev Takkis. Virtual screening of chemical databases for bioactive molecules. Tartu, 2012, 122 p.
- 115. Ksenija Kisseljova. Synthesis of $aza-\beta^3$ -amino acid containing peptides and kinetic study of their phosphorylation by protein kinase A. Tartu, 2012, 104 p.
- 116. **Riin Rebane.** Advanced method development strategy for derivatization LC/ESI/MS. Tartu, 2012, 184 p.
- Vladislav Ivaništšev. Double layer structure and adsorption kinetics of ions at metal electrodes in room temperature ionic liquids. Tartu, 2012, 128 p.
- 118. **Irja Helm.** High accuracy gravimetric Winkler method for determination of dissolved oxygen. Tartu, 2012, 139 p.
- 119. Karin Kipper. Fluoroalcohols as Components of LC-ESI-MS Eluents: Usage and Applications. Tartu, 2012, 164 p.
- 120. Arno Ratas. Energy storage and transfer in dosimetric luminescent materials. Tartu, 2012, 163 p.
- 121. **Reet Reinart-Okugbeni**. Assay systems for characterisation of subtypeselective binding and functional activity of ligands on dopamine receptors. Tartu, 2012, 159 p.

- 122. Lauri Sikk. Computational study of the Sonogashira cross-coupling reaction. Tartu, 2012, 81 p.
- 123. Karita Raudkivi. Neurochemical studies on inter-individual differences in affect-related behaviour of the laboratory rat. Tartu, 2012, 161 p.
- 124. **Indrek Saar.** Design of GalR2 subtype specific ligands: their role in depression-like behavior and feeding regulation. Tartu, 2013, 126 p.
- 125. Ann Laheäär. Electrochemical characterization of alkali metal salt based non-aqueous electrolytes for supercapacitors. Tartu, 2013, 127 p.
- 126. **Kerli Tõnurist.** Influence of electrospun separator materials properties on electrochemical performance of electrical double-layer capacitors. Tartu, 2013, 147 p.
- 127. Kaija Põhako-Esko. Novel organic and inorganic ionogels: preparation and characterization. Tartu, 2013, 124 p.
- 128. **Ivar Kruusenberg.** Electroreduction of oxygen on carbon nanomaterialbased catalysts. Tartu, 2013, 191 p.
- 129. Sander Piiskop. Kinetic effects of ultrasound in aqueous acetonitrile solutions. Tartu, 2013, 95 p.
- 130. **Ilona Faustova**. Regulatory role of L-type pyruvate kinase N-terminal domain. Tartu, 2013, 109 p.
- 131. **Kadi Tamm.** Synthesis and characterization of the micro-mesoporous anode materials and testing of the medium temperature solid oxide fuel cell single cells. Tartu, 2013, 138 p.
- 132. Iva Bozhidarova Stoyanova-Slavova. Validation of QSAR/QSPR for regulatory purposes. Tartu, 2013, 109 p.
- 133. Vitali Grozovski. Adsorption of organic molecules at single crystal electrodes studied by *in situ* STM method. Tartu, 2014, 146 p.
- 134. Santa Veikšina. Development of assay systems for characterisation of ligand binding properties to melanocortin 4 receptors. Tartu, 2014, 151 p.
- 135. Jüri Liiv. PVDF (polyvinylidene difluoride) as material for active element of twisting-ball displays. Tartu, 2014, 111 p.
- 136. Kersti Vaarmets. Electrochemical and physical characterization of pristine and activated molybdenum carbide-derived carbon electrodes for the oxygen electroreduction reaction. Tartu, 2014, 131 p.
- 137. Lauri Tõntson. Regulation of G-protein subtypes by receptors, guanine nucleotides and Mn²⁺. Tartu, 2014, 105 p.
- 138. Aiko Adamson. Properties of amine-boranes and phosphorus analogues in the gas phase. Tartu, 2014, 78 p.
- 139. **Elo Kibena**. Electrochemical grafting of glassy carbon, gold, highly oriented pyrolytic graphite and chemical vapour deposition-grown graphene electrodes by diazonium reduction method. Tartu, 2014, 184 p.
- Teemu Näykki. Novel Tools for Water Quality Monitoring From Field to Laboratory. Tartu, 2014, 202 p.
- 141. Karl Kaupmees. Acidity and basicity in non-aqueous media: importance of solvent properties and purity. Tartu, 2014, 128 p.

- 142. **Oleg Lebedev**. Hydrazine polyanions: different strategies in the synthesis of heterocycles. Tartu, 2015, 118 p.
- 143. Geven Piir. Environmental risk assessment of chemicals using QSAR methods. Tartu, 2015, 123 p.
- 144. **Olga Mazina.** Development and application of the biosensor assay for measurements of cyclic adenosine monophosphate in studies of G protein-coupled receptor signalinga. Tartu, 2015, 116 p.
- 145. Sandip Ashokrao Kadam. Anion receptors: synthesis and accurate binding measurements. Tartu, 2015, 116 p.
- 146. **Indrek Tallo.** Synthesis and characterization of new micro-mesoporous carbide derived carbon materials for high energy and power density electrical double layer capacitors. Tartu, 2015, 148 p.
- 147. **Heiki Erikson.** Electrochemical reduction of oxygen on nanostructured palladium and gold catalysts. Tartu, 2015, 204 p.
- 148. Erik Anderson. *In situ* Scanning Tunnelling Microscopy studies of the interfacial structure between Bi(111) electrode and a room temperature ionic liquid. Tartu, 2015, 118 p.
- 149. Girinath G. Pillai. Computational Modelling of Diverse Chemical, Biochemical and Biomedical Properties. Tartu, 2015, 140 p.
- 150. **Piret Pikma.** Interfacial structure and adsorption of organic compounds at Cd(0001) and Sb(111) electrodes from ionic liquid and aqueous electrolytes: an *in situ* STM study. Tartu, 2015, 126 p.
- 151. Ganesh babu Manoharan. Combining chemical and genetic approaches for photoluminescence assays of protein kinases. Tartu, 2016, 126 p.
- 152. Carolin Siimenson. Electrochemical characterization of halide ion adsorption from liquid mixtures at Bi(111) and pyrolytic graphite electrode surface. Tartu, 2016, 110 p.
- 153. Asko Laaniste. Comparison and optimisation of novel mass spectrometry ionisation sources. Tartu, 2016, 156 p.
- 154. Hanno Evard. Estimating limit of detection for mass spectrometric analysis methods. Tartu, 2016, 224 p.
- 155. **Kadri Ligi.** Characterization and application of protein kinase-responsive organic probes with triplet-singlet energy transfer. Tartu, 2016, 122 p.
- 156. **Margarita Kagan.** Biosensing penicillins' residues in milk flows. Tartu, 2016, 130 p.
- 157. **Marie Kriisa.** Development of protein kinase-responsive photoluminescent probes and cellular regulators of protein phosphorylation. Tartu, 2016, 106 p.
- 158. **Mihkel Vestli.** Ultrasonic spray pyrolysis deposited electrolyte layers for intermediate temperature solid oxide fuel cells. Tartu, 2016, 156 p.
- 159. **Silver Sepp**. Influence of porosity of the carbide-derived carbon on the properties of the composite electrocatalysts and characteristics of polymer electrolyte fuel cells. Tartu, 2016, 137 p.
- 160. Kristjan Haav. Quantitative relative equilibrium constant measurements in supramolecular chemistry. Tartu, 2017, 158 p.

- 161. Anu Teearu. Development of MALDI-FT-ICR-MS methodology for the analysis of resinous materials. Tartu, 2017, 205 p.
- 162. **Taavi Ivan**. Bifunctional inhibitors and photoluminescent probes for studies on protein complexes. Tartu, 2017, 140 p.
- 163. **Maarja-Liisa Oldekop**. Characterization of amino acid derivatization reagents for LC-MS analysis. Tartu, 2017, 147 p.
- 164. Kristel Jukk. Electrochemical reduction of oxygen on platinum- and palladium-based nanocatalysts. Tartu, 2017, 250 p.
- 165. Siim Kukk. Kinetic aspects of interaction between dopamine transporter and *N*-substituted nortropane derivatives. Tartu, 2017, 107 p.
- 166. **Birgit Viira**. Design and modelling in early drug development in targeting HIV-1 reverse transcriptase and Malaria. Tartu, 2017, 172 p.
- 167. **Rait Kivi**. Allostery in cAMP dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit. Tartu, 2017, 115 p.
- 168. Agnes Heering. Experimental realization and applications of the unified acidity scale. Tartu, 2017, 123 p.
- 169. **Delia Juronen**. Biosensing system for the rapid multiplex detection of mastitis-causing pathogens in milk. Tartu, 2018, 85 p.
- 170. **Hedi Rahnel.** ARC-inhibitors: from reliable biochemical assays to regulators of physiology of cells. Tartu, 2018, 176 p.
- 171. Anton Ruzanov. Computational investigation of the electrical double layer at metal–aqueous solution and metal–ionic liquid interfaces. Tartu, 2018, 129 p.
- 172. Katrin Kestav. Crystal Structure-Guided Development of Bisubstrate-Analogue Inhibitors of Mitotic Protein Kinase Haspin. Tartu, 2018, 166 p.
- 173. **Mihkel Ilisson.** Synthesis of novel heterocyclic hydrazine derivatives and their conjugates. Tartu, 2018, 101 p.
- 174. Anni Allikalt. Development of assay systems for studying ligand binding to dopamine receptors. Tartu, 2018, 160 p.
- 175. **Ove Oll.** Electrical double layer structure and energy storage characteristics of ionic liquid based capacitors. Tartu, 2018, 187 p.
- 176. **Rasmus Palm.** Carbon materials for energy storage applications. Tartu, 2018, 114 p.
- 177. **Jörgen Metsik.** Preparation and stability of poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) thin films for transparent electrode applications. Tartu, 2018, 111 p.
- 178. **Sofja Tšepelevitš.** Experimental studies and modeling of solute-solvent interactions. Tartu, 2018, 109 p.
- 179. Märt Lõkov. Basicity of some nitrogen, phosphorus and carbon bases in acetonitrile. Tartu, 2018, 104 p.
- 180. Anton Mastitski. Preparation of α -aza-amino acid precursors and related compounds by novel methods of reductive one-pot alkylation and direct alkylation. Tartu, 2018, 155 p.
- Jürgen Vahter. Development of bisubstrate inhibitors for protein kinase CK2. Tartu, 2019, 186 p.

- 182. **Piia Liigand.** Expanding and improving methodology and applications of ionization efficiency measurements. Tartu, 2019, 189 p.
- 183. **Sigrid Selberg.** Synthesis and properties of lipophilic phosphazene-based indicator molecules. Tartu, 2019, 74 p.
- 184. **Jaanus Liigand.** Standard substance free quantification for LC/ESI/MS analysis based on the predicted ionization efficiencies. Tartu, 2019, 254 p.
- 185. **Marek Mooste.** Surface and electrochemical characterisation of aryl film and nanocomposite material modified carbon and metal-based electrodes. Tartu, 2019, 304 p.
- 186. **Mare Oja.** Experimental investigation and modelling of pH profiles for effective membrane permeability of drug substances. Tartu, 2019, 306 p.
- 187. Sajid Hussain. Electrochemical reduction of oxygen on supported Pt catalysts. Tartu, 2019, 220 p.
- 188. **Ronald Väli.** Glucose-derived hard carbon electrode materials for sodiumion batteries. Tartu, 2019, 180 p.
- 189. Ester Tee. Analysis and development of selective synthesis methods of hierarchical micro- and mesoporous carbons. Tartu, 2019, 210 p.
- 190. **Martin Maide.** Influence of the microstructure and chemical composition of the fuel electrode on the electrochemical performance of reversible solid oxide fuel cell. Tartu, 2020, 144 p.